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PEARSON

PARTNERS

A World Disrupted
As we were preparing this 2019 Annual Report for
publication in early 2020, the world that Toronto
Pearson helps to connect was dramatically disrupted
by the coronavirus pandemic. The scale and duration
of the outbreak’s impact – on people’s lives, on the
health of communities, on economic wellbeing around
the globe – will only become fully evident in the
months ahead. But it’s clear that air travel and the
aviation industry have been deeply affected by this
unprecedented global crisis.
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As the GTAA’s Chair and CEO suggest in their
introductory messages to this report, our theme of
partnership has become all the more meaningful as we
see Pearson’s diverse stakeholders coming together
to protect public health, ensure passenger safety and
maintain the operational resilience that will help our
communities and the entire world recover, rebuild
and reconnect.

Economic growth and vitality.
Innovation that drives performance
and quality. Social and environmental
stewardship. We magnify our airport’s
impact by collaborating with diverse
stakeholders who believe in the power
of partnerships.
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This document contains certain forward-looking information. Please refer
to the section titled “Caution Regarding Forward-Looking Information”
contained at the end of Management’s Discussion and Analysis for a
discussion of the risks and uncertainties and the material factors and
assumptions related to forward-looking information.
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Message from the Board Chair
The Power of Partnerships
I am writing this annual message to stakeholders – my first since
becoming Chair of the GTAA’s Board of Directors – in a context
that none of us could have foreseen at the end of 2019. It’s not
possible at this point to fully assess the impact of the coronavirus
pandemic on countries, communities and individual lives. But
one thing is certain: in an interconnected world, a major global
airport like Toronto Pearson is touched by all aspects of this
unprecedented social and economic disruption. And we’ll have
a key role to play in the recovery that follows, both within the
aviation industry and in support of the regional, national and
global economies.
Throughout this crisis, as we’ve consulted constantly with
stakeholders and kept the public informed, our first priority has
been the health and wellbeing of passengers, Toronto Pearson
employees and the GTAA’s many business partners. While it will
take time to gauge the pandemic’s long-term consequences,
what we’re seeing on a daily basis is an extraordinary level of
collaboration as members of the Pearson community work
together to implement public health protocols, reinforce
safety and security, and manage the logistics around the
largest repatriation of Canadians in our country’s history. The
responsibilities that come with being Canada’s gateway to the
world have never been more evident.

A coordinated effort
I’ve spent most of my career in the engineering and architectural
sector, planning and developing major infrastructure projects
across the country and around the globe. When I joined the GTAA
Board in 2018, I was immediately struck by the sheer complexity
of operations at Toronto Pearson. It takes innumerable systems
and processes, all seamlessly integrated, to support tens of
millions of passengers a year as they travel to, from and between
nearly 200 destinations worldwide. Even more importantly, it
requires the coordinated efforts of the 50,000 people who work at
our airport. Toronto Pearson employees, with their diverse skills
and experience, confer and collaborate around the clock, often
in challenging environments, to ensure safe, consistent, reliable
service and the best possible passenger experience. Partnerships,
as this year’s annual report theme suggests, are critical to our
airport’s success.
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Some 400 companies, agencies and organizations work together
at Toronto Pearson to connect Canada with the world and
welcome travellers to our country’s doorstep. Equally vital are
the partnerships we forge externally: with government and
community leaders in our region and nationwide; with Metrolinx
and other agencies responsible for ground transportation
networks; with business leaders who value our airport’s role as
a driver of job creation and economic growth; and with national
and global organizations devoted to advancing secure, efficient
and sustainable air travel.

Investing in sustainability
In reviewing these various collaborative initiatives over the past
year, the Board has identified two key priorities that will define
our strategic agenda going forward.
The first is sustainability. Canadians, like people around the
world, are increasingly concerned about the impacts of air
travel on climate change. As a recognized leader in the aviation
sector, Toronto Pearson is actively exploring what more we
can do to meet this worldwide challenge, both in our own
operations and through our ability to encourage partners and
support nearby communities. To guide and focus these efforts,
the Board has asked the GTAA executive team to build on the
existing environmental management system and prepare a
comprehensive sustainability plan that will complement our
overall corporate strategy. The plan will map out how we can help
fulfill the global commitment to significantly reduce our collective
carbon footprint.
We consider environmental, social and governance factors in
every aspect of the GTAA’s business activities and longer-term
decision-making. This annual report highlights some of the key
partnerships we’ve forged to put that commitment into action.
As Toronto Pearson continues evolving to meet growing demand,
our strategy must be sustainable.
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The value of innovation

Transition in leadership

Another priority for the next year and beyond is our continuing
investment in innovation. Like all forward-looking enterprises,
the GTAA works to foster a culture of creative collaboration
and problem solving – through our use of technology, and
by constantly adapting and rethinking the many interrelated
processes by which we manage the flow of passengers, airside
and groundside, as well as the flow of aircraft, cargo and baggage.

Pursuing our innovation and sustainability goals requires close
collaboration among many stakeholders within the GTAA and
across the wider Toronto Pearson community. The pace, breadth
and impact of our collective efforts reflect both the power of our
vision and the exemplary leadership of our executive team, led by
President and CEO Howard Eng from 2012 until earlier this year.

Many of our innovation efforts at Toronto Pearson are ultimately
focused on the passenger journey, whether outbound, inbound
or transferring between connecting flights. We’re constantly
seeking new ways, working with government agencies where
appropriate, to expedite check-in, security screening, and
customs and immigration while ensuring travellers enjoy a stressfree experience. Here again, the key to success is collaboration
with air carriers and our security and border control agencies
as we investigate everything from improved passport scanning
systems to biometric technologies.
As cargo becomes an even more significant component of
Pearson's operations, we’re also working with our partners and
stakeholders to implement innovative logistics solutions that will
help ensure the efficient, effective movement of goods both on
the airport property and in the wider transportation network.
Above all, we’re constantly examining and, where appropriate,
adopting proven strategies to improve safety for all of our
passengers and workers.
Whether developing original solutions or adapting proven models
from the world’s top-ranked airports, Toronto Pearson’s various
teams of experts share a common goal: helping people move
efficiently and comfortably and safely through our terminals. For
our airline customers, that positive airport experience translates
into greater passenger satisfaction and increased loyalty. As for
travellers, the faster they’re able to get through check-in and
screening, the more time they have to relax and enjoy Pearson’s
dining, shopping and other world-class amenities. This in turn
generates higher commercial revenues, which we invest in further
enhancing and developing our facilities, sustaining the virtuous
circle of continuous improvement.
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Over the past eight years, we’ve seen a steady increase in
passenger traffic, and Toronto Pearson is now ranked fifth in the
world for international connectivity. We’re indebted to Howard
and his team for guiding us through this period of dramatic
growth. They’ve elevated our airport to the top of the global
rankings for service quality while setting new standards for
operational excellence. At the same time, they’ve extended the
GTAA’s vision of connectivity into the surrounding region, leading
the way in championing an integrated transit hub at Pearson
and helping to establish the Southern Ontario Airport Network.
Howard’s record of success has earned him the trust and respect
of our diverse stakeholders and the admiration of his industry
peers worldwide.
Last year, Howard announced his intention to retire in 2020.
The Board quickly appointed an ad hoc committee to begin
conducting a worldwide search for a successor. During the
yearlong process, we identified and met with dozens of internal
and external candidates who represented the best and brightest
among global airport leaders. And in November 2019, we were
pleased to announce a meeting of minds with someone whose
credentials, experience and impressive track record matched the
high standards our Board had established for the CEO position.
As of February 2020, the new President and CEO of the Greater
Toronto Airports Authority is Deborah Flint, an internationally
recognized airport executive who has worked in the aviation
and transportation industry for nearly 25 years, most recently
as the CEO of Los Angeles World Airports. In leading LAX – the
world’s fourth-busiest airport, serving more than 87.5 million
passengers in 2018 – Deborah has overseen a multi-billion-dollar
modernization program that represents the largest public works
project in the history of Los Angeles. She knows firsthand what’s
required to guide a major airport through a period of significant
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growth and transformation. She has a wealth of experience in
addressing all of the other key priorities of a major global hub,
including maintaining safety, fostering sustainability, integrating
regional transit and delivering the highest-quality passenger
experience. Equally important, Deborah appreciates the vital
need to build effective, respectful partnerships with government,
business and communities. And she’s also a Canadian, so we’re
very happy to welcome her home!
In short, we believe Deborah has the talent, expertise and depth
of experience to lead Toronto Pearson forward into the next
phase of our transformative journey.

A foundation for the future
On behalf of the Board, I’d also like to express our gratitude to
my predecessor as Chair, David Wilson, who completed his term
in May 2019. During his four years in the role, David helped
to evolve and strengthen the Board, attracting more diverse
members with a broader range of expertise. He also leveraged his
deep understanding of corporate governance to help build a solid
foundation for the future.
The Board welcomed two new members in 2019. Marc Neeb
recently retired as Chief Human Resources Officer with Magna
International, North America’s largest auto parts manufacturer;
earlier in his career, he gained a wealth of experience in
municipal administration. Eric Plesman heads up the North
American real estate operations of Oxford Properties; a member
of the firm’s global investment committee, he also has broad
international experience with a major investment bank. The skills
and experience that Marc and Eric bring to the Board are already
proving invaluable as we develop and oversee the GTAA’s longterm strategy.
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Putting that strategy into action is the job of 1,800 committed
GTAA employees and their tens of thousands of colleagues across
Toronto Pearson. We also depend on the support of our large
community of stakeholders, who value the local economic benefits
of global connectivity. Their needs, goals and dreams for the future
have shaped our evolution into a globally significant airport.
Together, we will do what’s needed to restore full connectivity in
a post-pandemic world. As we renew our commitment to keep
passengers healthy and safe, we’ll work with the global aviation
community to reinforce and elevate the highest protective
standards, ensuring travellers’ confidence as they resume flying.
At the same time, we’ll support our airlines and other partners
as we all adjust our expectations and day-to-day practices to the
new normal. And we’ll continue improving and enhancing one of
the world’s great airports – innovative, sustainable and driven by
the power of partnerships.

Doug Allingham
Chair

5

Message from the President and CEO
The Next Chapter

The benchmarks of progress

As this annual report is being finalized, the world faces a dramatic
and unprecedented challenge. The coronavirus pandemic has
already had a severe impact not only on public health, but on
the social and economic wellbeing of people everywhere. At this
point there’s still a great deal of uncertainty over the long-term
consequences of the current crisis. But it’s already clear that
the sharp reduction in air travel – with significant consequences
for airlines, the broader aviation sector and our interconnected
global economy – will be felt for some time. And as flight
restrictions are ultimately lifted, we know that travellers will be
looking for reassurance that the highest possible standards are in
place to protect their health and safety. Our airport will be among
the leaders in that global initiative.

Pearson’s standing among major global hubs was reinforced
during the past year, as passenger traffic exceeded the 50-million
mark. It’s one more measure of the growing role our airport plays
in connecting people, products, services and entire communities
to a world of opportunity.

Although the GTAA’s annual review of operations focuses largely
on the previous fiscal year, it’s also an opportunity to consider
recent achievements in light of what comes next for Toronto
Pearson as we pursue our long-term strategy. We’ve therefore
reviewed the report’s contents through the lens of recent events
to ensure we provide the most helpful information for assessing
our airport’s resilience, adaptability and sustainability.
In preparing this first message to stakeholders since my
appointment as CEO, I was struck by how a theme developed over
months – Pearson Partners – has become, in the present context,
more apt than ever. The partnerships showcased in this report,
and in the video messages that accompany it, are representative
of the many powerful collaborations that have transformed
Toronto Pearson into one of the world’s leading airports. Those
partnerships will be more important than ever as we navigate
through the immediate challenges posed by COVID-19 and
continue meeting the long-term connectivity needs of our region,
all of Canada and the world.
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That said, our growth moderated somewhat in 2019, increasing
by 2 per cent compared to an annual average rate of 6 per cent
from 2012 through 2018. This underlines a key point about our
future trajectory: Pearson grows not to fulfill some ambitious
planning target, but in response to the changing needs of the
regional, national and global economies. Even before the risk
of a coronavirus outbreak began to emerge in late 2019, there
was a great deal of uncertainty in the overall economic outlook,
largely as the result of unpredictable trade discussions and
wider geopolitical tensions. A number of challenges affected the
aviation industry in particular, notably currency fluctuations and
volatile oil prices. And the worldwide grounding of the Boeing
737 MAX aircraft over safety concerns had an impact on traffic
volumes.
It’s important, though, to place these moderating factors in
perspective. Even as Toronto Pearson served nearly a million
more passengers, we also deepened our engagement with all
travellers by expanding and enhancing our retail, dining and
other services to enrich their airport experience. As a result,
commercial revenues – from non-aeronautical sources such
as restaurants and shops, parking, ground transportation and
rent paid by airlines for check-in counters and kiosks – grew to a
record $555.5 million.
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Continued strong returns from our investment in the passenger
experience help to ensure the financial sustainability of our
airport. And they show the material impact of our efforts to
constantly improve service levels: For the third consecutive year,
Toronto Pearson was ranked #1 in North America in the Airport
Service Quality (ASQ) satisfaction survey conducted by Airports
Council International. Our ASQ score of 4.48 is the highest not
only on this continent, but among all hubs serving more than
40 million passengers annually in Europe, Africa, Australia, Latin
America and the Caribbean.
These financial and reputational benchmarks are a great source
of pride for everyone who works at Toronto Pearson. And they
point to the power of partnerships in driving our success.

Partnering with our carriers
The GTAA’s most significant business partnerships are with the
airlines that fly in and out of Toronto Pearson, Air Canada and
WestJet foremost among them. Both in our long-term agreements
and in day-to-day operations, we’re aligned with our carriers on
how we can best serve the rapidly changing air travel market.
We collaborate on everything from the development of new
routes to improved baggage systems. We also align our efforts in
support of connecting passengers, who increasingly see Pearson
as the most efficient gateway between North America – where
we’re ranked #2 for international connectivity – and cities around
the world. Our major airline partners also advise on the various
facilities enhancements and new service offerings by which we
strive to deliver a better passenger experience.
Behind the scenes, Air Canada and WestJet have joined the
GTAA, NAV Canada and other stakeholders as we explore the
potential of Airport Collaborative Decision Making (A-CDM). By
sharing real-time data to better integrate operational systems
and processes, we can enable smoother, more efficient travel
through our airport. As detailed in this report, we’re already
seeing the positive impact of collaborative initiatives like the early
morning arrivals trial, which has helped carriers provide better
service while reducing fuel consumption and carbon emissions.
Indeed, many of Pearson’s sustainability efforts start with our
carrier partnerships, whether we’re working together to reduce
inefficient idling and taxi times, or targeting more specific goals,
as in our program with Air Canada to retrofit A320 aircraft for
quieter performance.

Realizing our collective potential
Advancing sustainability is also a key objective of our integrated
transit strategy for Toronto Pearson, which we’re moving forward
by partnering with the Government of Canada, the Government of
Ontario, municipal governments, Metrolinx, other transportation
agencies and diverse stakeholder groups. We view improved transit
not simply as a way to provide better access to our airport, but as
the key to unclogging the region’s roads and reducing greenhouse
gas emissions. At the same time, a better transit network will boost
the social and economic dimensions of sustainability, creating
opportunities in surrounding communities – particularly the Airport
Employment Zone, Canada’s second largest employment cluster,
which is home to more than 300,000 jobs.
In 2019, we also took a closer look at employment opportunities
within Toronto Pearson by conducting the first comprehensive
workforce study ever undertaken by a Canadian airport. The
findings offer new insights into the 50,000 people employed
at our airport, beginning with their sheer diversity in terms of
age, gender, education, ethnicity and other factors. Pearson
employees shared their frustrations, especially over the need for
better transit options. But they also expressed great optimism
about a work environment they see as stable, stimulating and rich
with opportunities. Our job now, building on this feedback, is to
take a more considered approach to helping all employees realize
their full potential as we leverage the remarkable partnerships
we’ve built with our unions and the nearly 400 employers that
work together at Toronto Pearson.

Connecting people to opportunity
Many respondents to our workforce study are underemployed –
that is, their education or skill levels exceed what is required
in their current jobs. Some are younger workers, eager for
a chance to prove what they can do; others are newcomers
whose credentials and past experience aren’t immediately
recognized by Canadian employers. As we now look for ways to
better deploy the wealth of talent at Toronto Pearson, it’s part
of a broader commitment to helping underemployed people in
nearby communities. To that end, in 2019 we once again directed
1 per cent of the GTAA’s annual net revenue to our community
investment program, the Propeller Project. As of year-end, we’d
committed $1 million in funding to not-for-profit organizations
in Toronto, Mississauga and Brampton that focus on helping
underemployed people pursue more fulfilling careers and
contribute to overall economic vitality.
This is what a strategic hub like Pearson does. We’re here not
only to connect our region to the world, but to create deeper
connections within the region that help build prosperity,
resilience and sustainable growth – because you need to invest
in both dimensions, global and local, to realize the full value
of connectivity.
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Sustaining the vision
In closing, I’d like to express my appreciation to the GTAA’s
Chair, Doug Allingham, and to all of the Board members who’ve
provided such valuable insights, guidance and support as I’ve
taken on the role of CEO. It’s a privilege to be asked to lead
this remarkable organization, and I look forward to the Board’s
continued support and strategic counsel going forward.
I would also like to thank my predecessor, Howard Eng, whose
eight-year legacy of achievements has created a solid foundation
for the future. I’m grateful for the advice and wisdom that
Howard has shared throughout the transition, and I know that
our achievements going forward will build on all that he has
done to elevate Toronto Pearson on the world stage. My thanks
as well to the leaders on our executive team, who bring a wealth
of talent and experience to delivering on Toronto Pearson’s
strategic priorities.

As for the people who put those priorities into action – thank you
to the 1,800 direct employees of the GTAA, and to the broader
community of nearly 50,000 Pearson employees whose skill,
energy and commitment are what make this one of the world’s
top-ranked airports. And lastly, my heartfelt thanks, on behalf
of everyone at Toronto Pearson, to the diverse stakeholders –
community members, businesspeople, leaders of not-for-profits,
representatives of all levels of government – who are helping us
pursue a bold vision for Canada’s largest airport, guided by our
shared values and a common purpose.
In this spirit of partnership, we’ll address the immediate
challenges of a global pandemic while staying focused on our
region’s – and the world’s – longer-term connectivity needs.
I look forward to doing great things together as we create the
next chapter in Toronto Pearson’s story.

Deborah Flint
President and Chief Executive Officer
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Corporate Governance
The Board of Directors (the “Board”) is representative of the diversity of the Greater Toronto Area and the major economic sectors in
the region that Toronto Pearson serves.
The GTAA was incorporated in 1993 as a non-share capital corporation and recognized as a Canadian Airport Authority by the
Government of Canada in 1994. The GTAA assumed operation of Toronto Pearson International Airport on December 2, 1996. In 2014,
the GTAA was continued under the Canada Not-for-proﬁt Corporations Act. The GTAA is a reporting issuer under Canadian securities
legislation. As a corporation without share capital, the GTAA has Members rather than shareholders or other equity holders. The
process for nominating and selecting Members is based on the GTAA’s By-Law.
The GTAA’s Members are also its Directors. The GTAA’s Board of Directors is comprised of 15 Directors elected by the GTAA’s Members.
Directors serve terms of up to three years and are eligible to be re-elected by the Members to serve for a maximum of nine years.
Seven Directors are elected by the Members on a cyclical basis from candidates who are identiﬁed and assessed through a search
process. The search process includes engaging the Named Community Nominators which include the Law Society of Ontario,
Professional Engineers Ontario, the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Ontario, the Toronto Region Board of Trade, the Board of
Trade of the City of Mississauga, and the Board of Trade of the City of Brampton.
Five Directors are elected by the Members from candidates nominated by the following municipalities: the regional municipalities of
York, Halton, Peel and Durham, and the City of Toronto.
Two Directors are elected by the Members from nominees of the Government of Canada and one Director is elected by the Members
from a nominee of the Province of Ontario.
The nominees may be the incumbent Member if that Member is eligible to serve for another term.
The Board assesses candidates put forward by the relevant nominators to determine whether the candidates possess the skills,
experience and abilities required by the Board.
All of the Directors on the GTAA’s Board are independent, as that term is deﬁned in applicable securities legislation. The GTAA’s Board
is a “skills based” Board; namely, the Directors are elected on the basis of their abilities, experience and skills needed to oversee the
GTAA’s complex and industry-leading activities of operating and managing Toronto Pearson.
The Board is responsible for the overall stewardship of the GTAA, including overseeing the Corporation’s governance, strategic
direction, and supervising Management, which is responsible for the day-to-day conduct of the business and affairs of the Corporation.
The Board’s written mandate is contained in the Terms of Reference of the Board, included in the GTAA’s Annual Information Form,
which may be accessed at www.sedar.com.
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In 2019, there were four standing committees of the Board: the Audit Committee; the Governance and Stakeholder Relations Committee;
the Human Resources and Compensation Committee; and the Planning and Commercial Development Committee. In addition to the
standing Board committees, the Board established an Ad Hoc CEO Search Committee in September 2018 to facilitate the search to
identify and recommend candidates for the position of President and CEO of the GTAA. The mandates of the Committees of the Board are
summarized below:

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee is mandated by the Board to undertake delegated work on the Board’s behalf and to gain reasonable
assurance regarding the integrity of the ﬁnancial reporting, accounting, auditing and internal controls as well as to fulﬁll relevant legal
obligations of an Audit Committee of a reporting issuer. In so doing, the Committee oversees and monitors the integrity of the GTAA’s
ﬁnancial statements and ﬁnancial reporting processes, including overseeing the work of the GTAA’s external auditor, overseeing
the qualiﬁcations and independence of the external auditor, and providing an open avenue of communication between the senior
management of the GTAA, the external auditor, the internal auditor, and the members of the Board and Committees of the Board.
The Committee also oversees the eﬀectiveness of risk management for audit-related, ﬁnancial and such other risks assigned by the
Board of Directors and provides oversight of the GTAA’s pension fund and plans. The Charter of the Audit Committee is included in the
GTAA’s Annual Information Form, which may be accessed at www.sedar.com.

Governance and Stakeholder Relations Committee
The Governance and Stakeholder Relations Committee is charged with overseeing the eﬀective governance of the GTAA and making
recommendations to the Board and its Committees on measures to enhance eﬀectiveness. The Committee also oversees the
GTAA’s stakeholder relations and communications strategy for building brand and social licence, including oversight of the GTAA’s
relationships and strategic communications program with stakeholders, and overseeing the GTAA’s Community Investment Program.
The Committee is also responsible for overseeing the Board Member nomination process; maintaining a skills matrix to identify desired
skills, experience and other attributes; recruiting, interviewing and assessing candidates to the Board, and recommending the issuance
of Memberships to candidates; Board succession planning; the orientation program for new Directors; overseeing Director continuing
education; assessing the eﬀectiveness of the Board and the Committees of the Board; and overseeing adherence to corporate
governance requirements.

Human Resources and Compensation Committee
The Human Resources and Compensation Committee’s mandate is to oversee matters related to the GTAA’s human resources
strategy, oversight of strategic human resources matters, including executive compensation, succession- planning, development, talent
management, performance oversight and recruitment, compensation matters relating to the President and Chief Executive Oﬃcer and
oﬃcers, and matters relating to enterprise-wide human resources risks, policies, and relevant matters.

Planning and Commercial Development Committee
The Planning and Commercial Development Committee’s mandate includes overseeing the Corporation’s 2017–2037 Master Plan and
Land Use Plan, ensuring that the Corporation has an appropriate, up-to-date and approved Long-Term Infrastructure Plan, oversight
of commercial development of the Airport, planning and development activities including real estate development, ensuring utilization
of infrastructure and facilities to meet the needs of the GTAA’s passengers and stakeholders, including air carriers and cargo shippers,
and ensuring that the Corporation has in place the systems necessary to undertake such matters.
The Committee is also responsible for reviewing and making recommendations with respect to capital projects in excess of the CEO’s
delegated authority, overseeing the eﬀective implementation of material capital projects, and providing feedback to Management on
strategic capital projects.

AD Hoc CEO Search Committee
Established in 2018 and disbanded in 2019, this Committee undertook delegated work on the Board’s behalf to facilitate the search to
identify and recommend candidates for the position of the President and CEO of the GTAA.
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Management’s Discussion
and Analysis
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019
Dated March 26, 2020

Forward-Looking Information
This Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) contains certain forward-looking information. This forward-looking information
is based on a variety of assumptions and is subject to risks and uncertainties. Please refer to the section titled “Caution Regarding
Forward-Looking Information” contained at the end of this MD&A for a discussion of such risks and uncertainties and the material
factors and assumptions related to the forward-looking information.

This report discusses the financial and operating results of the
Greater Toronto Airports Authority (the “GTAA”) for the year ended
December 31, 2019 and should be read in conjunction with the
Consolidated Financial Statements of the GTAA for the years
ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the Annual Information
Form for the year ended December 31, 2019. These documents
provide additional information on certain matters that may or may
not be discussed in this report. Additional information relating to the
GTAA, including the Annual Information Form and the Consolidated
Financial Statements referred to above, is available on SEDAR at
www.sedar.com. The GTAA’s Consolidated Financial Statements and
MD&A are also available on its website at www.torontopearson.com.
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Corporate Profile
The GTAA is a Canadian Airport Authority and a corporation without share capital under the Canada Not-for-profit Corporations Act. The
GTAA currently manages and operates Toronto – Lester B. Pearson International Airport (the “Airport” or “Toronto Pearson”) under a
ground lease with the Federal Government, which was executed in December 1996 (the “Ground Lease”). The Ground Lease has an
initial term of 60 years expiring in 2056, with one renewal term of 20 years. The Ground Lease is available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com
and on the GTAA’s website at www.torontopearson.com. The GTAA’s wholly-owned subsidiary, Malton Gateway Inc. (“MGI”), a holding
company, was incorporated in April 2017 and holds the shares of Airway Centre Inc. (“ACI”) which was also incorporated in April 2017 to
acquire and manage commercial properties that are unrelated to the direct management, operation or maintenance of the Airport. The
properties acquired by ACI do not form part of the premises leased to the GTAA by the Federal Government under the Ground Lease.

Select Financial and Operational Highlights
($ millions)
Total Revenues
Total operating expenses (excluding Amortization)
EBITDA(2), (3)
EBITDA margin(2), (3)
EBIT(4)
Net Income
Adjusted Net Income(5)

2019

2018

Change $

Change(1) %

2017

1,521.3
795.4
725.9
47.7%
435.1
139.8
139.8

1,471.7
751.1
720.6
49.0%
443.6
113.7
139.8

49.6
44.3
5.3

3.4
5.9
0.7
(1.3)pp
(1.9)
23.0
–

1,387.7
683.8
703.9
50.7%
439.2
112.2
112.2

99.8

(175.7)

(8.5)
26.1
–

See “Results of Operations” for details
See Net Operating Results for reconciliation from net income to EBITDA

Free Cash Flow(6) ($ millions)

(0.2)

(124.6)

124.4

MTI Rate Covenant(7)
Operating covenant (minimum requirement of 100%)
Debt service covenant (minimum requirement of 125%)

137.1%
150.4%

135.9%
148.5%

18.1
32.4
50.5

17.8
31.7
49.5

452.8
38.4
60.0
84.3%

472.7
37.4
59.3
83.4%

1.2pp
1.9pp

137.6%
144.9%

See “Liquidity and Capital Resources” section for details

Passenger Activity (millions)
Domestic
International
Total

0.3
0.7
1.0

1.4
2.4
2.0

(19.9)
1.0
0.7

(4.2)
2.5
1.0
0.9pp

17.5
29.6
47.1

Flight Activity
Aircraft movements (thousands)
MTOW(8) (million tonnes)
Seats (millions)
Load factor (%)

465.4
36.3
57.0
82.6%

See “Operating Activity” section for details

At December 31
Total Debt ($ millions)
Net Debt(9)

2019

2018

Change $

6,411.7
5,965.3

6,370.3
5,959.1

41.4
6.2

254
236

258
241

Change %

0.6
0.1

2017

6,311.8
5,844.6

Key Credit Metrics ($)
Total Debt/Enplaned Passenger(10)
Net Debt(9)/Enplaned Passenger(10)

(4)
(5)

(1.6)
(2.1)

268
248

(1)

“% Change” is based on detailed actual numbers (not rounded as presented); pp = percentage points.

(2)

EBITDA, a non-GAAP financial measure, is earnings before interest and financing costs and amortization. Refer to section “Non-GAAP Financial Measures”.

(3)

Refer to “Results of Operations – Net Operating Results” section for EBITDA and EBITDA margin narrative details.

(4)

EBIT is earnings before interest and financing costs, net. Refer to “Results of Operations – Net Operating Results” section for narrative details.

(5)

Adjusted net income, a non-GAAP financial measure, is defined as net income before the early retirement of debt charge, remaining unamortized bond
premiums and loss on cash flow hedge. Refer to section “Non-GAAP Financial Measures”.

(6)

Free cash flow, a non-GAAP financial measure, is cash generated from operations, less cash interest and financing costs less capital expenditures. Refer
to section “Non-GAAP Financial Measures”. See “Liquidity and Capital Resources” section for narrative details and the free cash flow calculation.

(7)

The GTAA’s Master Trust Indenture (“MTI”) contains a Rate Covenant, consisting of two financial tests (an operating covenant and debt service covenant).

(8)

MTOW is aircraft maximum take-off weight as specified by the aircraft manufacturers.

(9)

Net Debt, a non-GAAP financial measure, is gross debt less cash and restricted funds. Refer to section “Non-GAAP Financial Measures”.

(10)

Enplaned passengers are defined as equal to half of total passengers and is based on prior 12 months activity.
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Business Strategy
The Toronto Pearson International Airport: Master Plan: 2017 – 2037 (“Master Plan”) presents a rigorous assessment of the expected
Airport traffic demand over the next 20 years and describes the land areas, operations and facilities to support the continued growth of
the Airport underpinning the dynamism of the region, province and country. The Master Plan contemplates that under the “most likely”
scenario, Toronto Pearson could be serving an estimated 85 million passengers and 950,000 tonnes of cargo by 2037.
The GTAA has, over the last two years, articulated a vision for Toronto Pearson aspiring to become a mega hub from a global hub,
growing its number of international passengers and striving to provide direct air service to 80 per cent or more of the global economy –
creating additional jobs, fuelling exports and attracting foreign investment.
Air travel activity at Toronto Pearson has risen significantly over the last five years as major air carriers continue to expand and use
Toronto Pearson as a strategic hub in their networks. The passenger growth experienced over the past few years has resulted in the
need to further invest in the Airport’s physical infrastructure. The GTAA has commenced design development for a new concourse and
processor expansion at Terminal 1, and for further redevelopment and expansion at Terminal 3, in consultation with the air carriers
and other stakeholders. The GTAA is upgrading and expanding its capacity at the Pier G facility in Terminal 1 to accommodate narrow
body aircraft operations. In addition, the GTAA has also commenced a replacement of the baggage systems and preliminary design on
a potential passenger terminal processor and integrated Regional Transit Centre (“RTC”).
The GTAA will continue to make investments in existing and new facilities at the Airport relating to operational and passenger
processing improvements, repairs and maintenance, and initiatives that generate additional commercial revenues, as well as
investments needed to meet regulatory requirements.
As a worldwide connector of people and businesses, and a driver of economic prosperity in the region, the GTAA views enhanced
access to effective transit at the Airport as a priority. Currently, one million car trips a day are taken into and out of the Airport
employment zone, and driving times to Toronto Pearson are expected to rise by an average of 30 per cent over the next two decades.
The GTAA has a vision to build an RTC to better move people to, from and around the Airport, making it easier to travel, connecting
people with jobs, facilitating tourism, enabling business and facilitating the movement of goods. The GTAA will continue to advance the
planning of the facility and looks to all levels of government to partner on the study of connecting various local transit lines to harness
the benefits of a major transit hub for the West Greater Toronto and Hamilton Area.
The GTAA’s sustained positive financial results have allowed the Corporation to balance its approach to achieving its strategic goals.
The Corporation has increased its operational initiatives which support passenger and customer service, safety, engaged people, and
corporate responsibility. At the same time, the GTAA has enhanced its financial sustainability through delivering consistent net income
and reducing debt per enplaned passenger. The GTAA has not raised aeronautical fees since 2007. Aeronautical fees have been held
constant or lowered for 12 consecutive years, resulting in a reduction in the average air carriers’ cost per enplaned passenger.
While the GTAA continues to utilize operating cash flows to fund capital investments, the GTAA accesses the capital markets, as
required, to refinance maturing debt and fund the redevelopment of existing assets as well as new major capital programs and
acquisitions. The GTAA’s approach of matching Airport capacity to demand has allowed the GTAA to continue to meet the developing
air travel needs of the south-central Ontario region in a sustainable, cost-effective manner.
The GTAA remains focused on optimizing the utilization of its facilities, growing commercial revenues by offering products and services
which passengers value, and working with air carriers to expand capacity on existing routes, attract new air service and routes, and
plan for expected growth in passenger volumes.
In late December 2019 and early 2020, a novel coronavirus (“COVID-19”) was confirmed in multiple countries throughout the world
and declared on March 11, 2020 as a pandemic by the World Health Organization. The outbreak and resulting economic contraction
has had, and is expected to continue to have, a negative impact on demand for air travel globally. Toronto Pearson has experienced
significant declines in passengers and flight activity during February and March of 2020, as compared to the same period in 2019. This
is due to flight and route cancellations, fleet groundings, travel advisories and restrictions and the economic contraction occasioned by
the outbreak. The reduced activity is having a significant negative impact on the GTAA’s business and results of operations, including
aeronautical and commercial revenues and airport improvement fees. Apart from the impact of this pandemic on our revenues and
operations, there may also be disruptions, including to supply chains and third party service providers, and potential disruptions to our
workforce. The pandemic may also impact the cost of capital in the future which may arise from disrupted credit markets, and possible
credit ratings watch or downgrade of our debt. We expect that many of our stakeholders and counterparties may experience financial
distress which may precipitate requests to the GTAA for contractual relief or result in temporary or permanent shutdown of their
operations, which could adversely impact our revenues or operations.
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Given the rapidly evolving situation, Management continues to analyze the extent of the financial impact, which could be material,
depending on the duration of the outbreak. While the full duration and scope of the recent COVID-19 pandemic is not yet known,
Management does not believe, however, that the outbreak will have a long-term impact on the financial sustainability of the Airport
given its available liquidity. In addition, the Company is also reviewing potential reductions to operating and capital expenditures.
Management is working diligently to ensure the GTAA is supporting its key partners and taking steps to help protect the safety of
airport workers and passengers. Additionally, the GTAA and the Canadian Airport Council are actively engaging with governments at all
levels to discuss financial support and the essential role Toronto Pearson plays in Canada’s supply chain.

Highlights
Milestone 50 million passengers reached in 2019 – During 2019, approximately 50.5 million passengers travelled through Toronto
Pearson, an all-time high for passengers, including approximately 32.4 million international passengers. During 2019, passenger traffic
grew by 2.0 per cent compared to the same period in 2018. Toronto Pearson is the second-largest international passenger airport in
North America as measured by the total number of annual international passengers.
Toronto Pearson recognized for improvements in Passenger Service – For the year ended 2019, Toronto Pearson was recognized
by Airports Council International as the Best Large Airport in North America for airports that serve greater than 40 million passengers
annually. Additionally, Toronto Pearson was recognized as a 4-star airport by Skytrax for efficiency of airport processes, terminal
comfort and cleanliness, quality and availability of amenities and services, including retail and restaurant offerings. The recognition by
Airports Council International and Skytrax are a result of Toronto Pearson’s investments over the past several years to enhance the
passenger experience and flows at the Airport.
Douglas Allingham elected Chair of the GTAA’s Board of Directors – On May 7, 2019, the GTAA’s Board of Directors elected
Mr. Allingham as the new Chair of the Board of Directors for a two-year term. Mr. Allingham was previously the CEO of AECOM, an
international engineering firm with global operations.
GTAA-Unifor Collective Agreement Renewal – In July 2019, the GTAA and Unifor Local 2002 ratified and approved a renewal collective
agreement covering the four-year period to July 31, 2023. Unifor Local 2002 represents approximately 1,260 of the GTAA’s employees
employed in technical, administrative and general labour activities.
Issuance of 2019 Series Medium-Term Notes (“MTNs”) – On April 3, 2019, the GTAA issued $500.0 million Series 2019-1 MTNs
due April 3, 2029 at a coupon rate of 2.73 per cent. On October 17, 2019, the GTAA issued $900.0 million Series 2019-2 MTNs due
October 17, 2039 at a coupon rate of 2.75 per cent (“October offering”). Concurrent with the October offering, the GTAA redeemed the
$300.0 million Series 2016-1 MTNs due February 16, 2021. Refer to the “Liquidity and Capital Resources” section.
GTAA entered into a Municipal Authority Agreement with the City of Mississauga – In December 2019, the GTAA entered into a
Municipal Authority Agreement with the City of Mississauga covering several areas of mutual interest for the City of Mississauga and
the GTAA.
Toronto Pearson appoints Deborah Flint as new President and Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) – On November 27, 2019, the GTAA
announced the appointment of Canadian-born Deborah Flint as President and CEO of the GTAA. Ms. Flint has commenced her new role
in February 2020 following more than four years as CEO of Los Angeles World Airports and 24 years serving in executive roles in the
aviation industry.
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Operating Activity
The GTAA’s key activity drivers, which have a direct impact on its financial results, are passenger levels and flight activity, including
aircraft movements, size and seats.

Passenger Activity
Passenger traffic at the Airport increased in 2019 by 2.0 per cent, from 49.5 million passengers in 2018 to 50.5 million passengers in
2019, representing an annual growth of 1.0 million passengers.
Total passenger traffic at the Airport is categorized into one of two sectors: domestic (passengers travelling within Canada) and
international (passengers travelling to and from destinations outside Canada). During 2019, the strongest growth was in the
international sector, followed by the domestic sector, recording increases in passenger traffic of 2.4 per cent and 1.4 per cent,
respectively, when compared to the same period in 2018.
The following table summarizes passenger activity by sector for 2019, 2018 and 2017:

Passenger Activity(1)
(in millions)

2019

2018

Change $

Domestic

18.1
32.4
50.5

17.8
31.7
49.5

0.3
0.7
1.0

35.2
15.3
50.5
69.6%
30.4%
100.0%

35.0
14.5
49.5
70.8%
29.2%
100.0%

0.2
0.8
1.0

International
Total

Change(2) %

1.4
2.4
2.0

2017

17.5
29.6
47.1

(in millions)
Origin and destination
Connecting
Total
Origin and destination
Connecting
Total
(1)

Passenger estimates may vary from actuals.

(2)

“% Change” is based on detailed actual numbers (not rounded as presented).

0.9
4.9
2.0
(1.2)pp
1.2pp

33.2
13.9
47.1
70.4%
29.6%

Toronto Pearson’s passenger growth in 2019 was due to upgauging of average aircraft size on existing frequencies and the addition
of new routes by new and existing air carriers. Upgauging includes increasing the seat capacity per aircraft by either upgrading to
larger aircraft or reconfiguring and increasing seats in existing aircraft. Canadian and foreign air carriers’ strategy to move more traffic
through Toronto Pearson, and the strong origin and destination market in the Greater Toronto Area, have contributed to Toronto
Pearson’s increased passenger activity.
Passenger activity and flight activity at Toronto Pearson, however, have been negatively impacted in 2019 by the on-going grounding
of the 737 MAX as well as economic and geopolitical challenges. On March 13, 2019, Transport Canada issued a safety notice closing
Canadian airspace to the 737 MAX until further notice, followed by the Federal Aviation Administration which issued a temporary
grounding order for the 737 MAX. The grounding had a negative impact on the number of passengers who would ordinarily fly with
Air Canada, WestJet and Sunwing Airlines as these carriers utilize the 737 MAX in their fleet operating at Toronto Pearson. Recently,
Air Canada has indicated that the expected return to service of the 737 MAX will gradually commence late in the third quarter of 2020.
At December 31, 2019, Air Canada had 24 – 737 MAX in their operating fleet while WestJet had 13. The other carriers operating at the
Airport were not materially impacted by the grounding as these other carriers have fewer 737 MAX operating out of Toronto Pearson.
The impact from the grounding of the 737 MAX will continue until restrictions on its use for commercial purposes are lifted.
There are two principal types of passengers: origin and destination passengers and connecting passengers. An origin and destination
passenger is a passenger initiating or terminating a trip at a specific airport, reflecting the economic health of a region, while a
connecting passenger changes aircraft at that same airport en route to a final destination, symbolizing the strength of a hub. In 2019,
total origin and destination traffic increased by 0.2 million passengers, while the total number of connecting passengers increased
by 0.8 million from 2018. Connecting traffic increased due to Air Canada reporting higher connecting passengers in 2019 over the
same period of 2018. In 2019, 69.6 per cent of Toronto Pearson’s total passengers were origin and destination passengers, while the
remaining 30.4 per cent were connecting passengers, compared to 70.8 per cent origin and destination passengers and 29.2 per cent
connecting passengers in 2018.
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Flight Activity
As a global hub airport, Toronto Pearson has 63 air carriers providing flights to 173 International and 34 Canadian cities (non-stop
flights to 168 International and 34 Canadian cities). The GTAA estimates that countries comprising approximately 70 per cent of the
global economy are accessible from Toronto Pearson by regularly scheduled, non-stop air service.
Flight activity is measured by aircraft movements, defined as a landing or takeoff of an aircraft. Each aircraft has a maximum take-off
weight (“MTOW”), as specified by the aircraft manufacturers, and total number of seats. MTOW and seats are used to calculate the
majority of posted air carrier charges for each aircraft landing. The load factor, the ratio of passengers to seats, is a measure of aircraft
capacity utilization and is computed as a percentage of seats filled by passengers.
The following table summarizes aircraft movements, MTOW, seats, seats per passenger aircraft movement and load factor for 2019,
2018 and 2017.

Flight Activity(1)
(in thousands)
Aircraft movement

(3)

Passenger aircraft movements
Cargo (tonnes)

2019

2018

Change $

452.8
414.9
513.2

472.7

38.4
60.0
144.5
84.3%

Change(2) %

2017

(19.9)

(4.2)

465.4

435.3
560.1

(20.4)
(46.9)

(4.7)
(8.4)

427.8
535.7

37.4
59.3
136.3
83.4%

1.0
0.7
8.2

(in millions)
MTOW (tonnes)
Seats
Seats per passenger aircraft movement
Load factor
(1)

Flight activity measures above reflect both arriving and departing.

(2)

“% Change” is based on detailed actual numbers (not rounded as presented).

(3)

Aircraft movements include both passenger and non-passenger aircraft movements.

2.5
1.0
6.0
0.9pp

36.3
57.0
133.3
82.6%

Passenger aircraft movements declined 4.7 per cent in 2019 as compared to 2018 due to the 737 MAX grounding and the change in
(fleet mix where airlines are using larger planes more frequently and smaller planes less often. Aircraft movements, which include both
passengers and non-passengers, decreased 4.2 per cent in 2019 as compared to 2018.
During 2019, MTOW was 38.4 million tonnes, an increase of 2.5 per cent as compared to 2018. This change reflects the continued shift
in the airline industry whereby air carriers are utilizing larger aircraft in their respective fleet. Cargo tonnage transported decreased
from 560,060 metric tonnes in 2018 to 513,200 metric tonnes in 2019, a decrease of 8.4 per cent, mainly due to trade tensions that
resulted in reduced trade with China.
Seats increased during 2019 by 1.0 per cent to 60.0 million as compared to 59.3 million seats in 2018. The number of seats per
passenger aircraft movement during 2019 was 144.5, an increase of 8.2 seats or 6.0 per cent when compared to 136.3 seats per
passenger aircraft movement from 2018. This increase is due in part to a larger fleet mix and continued growth in passenger demand.
Load factors increased 0.9 percentage points from 83.4 per cent in 2018 to 84.3 per cent in 2019.
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As the chart below illustrates, the number of seats per movement has been increasing over the last five years.

During 2019, WOW Air, Fly Jamaica Airways and Jet Airways ceased operations. In contrast, Air Italy commenced services at Toronto
Pearson during the second quarter of 2019 and Air India launched its new non-stop route from Toronto Pearson to Delhi’s Indira
Gandhi International Airport on September 27, 2019. On February 11, 2020, Air Italy ceased operations as it went into liquidation.
For the most current operating activity statistics, please consult the GTAA’s website at www.torontopearson.com.

Results of Operations
The following section discusses the GTAA’s approach to setting its aeronautical rates and charges, together with its financial results.
Under the GTAA’s financial model, funds generated at the Airport are used for Airport operations, ancillary aviation-related activities,
construction, acquisitions, repairs and maintenance, and debt service (interest and repayment of principal).

Rate-Setting and Rate Agreements
In 2019, the GTAA advised that it would not change its aeronautical rates and charges to air carriers operating at the Airport in 2020.
The GTAA has the right, however, to set aeronautical rates and charges as required and, if circumstances should vary from the GTAA’s
expectations, the GTAA may alter its rates and charges. In practice, the GTAA establishes aeronautical rates and charges on an annual
basis and historically has notified the airlines in September of such changes.
In 2014, the GTAA and Air Canada entered into a long-term commercial agreement which further supports Toronto Pearson’s mega
hub strategy. The non-exclusive agreement covered an initial five-year term and was automatically extended for a further five years
until the end of 2023 as certain conditions were met. The agreement includes fixed annual aeronautical fees for Air Canada and its
family members, inclusive of landing fees, general terminal charges and apron fees. The fixed annual fees may be adjusted in certain
circumstances, including instances where fees for all other carriers operating at the Airport are adjusted. When Air Canada exceeds
passenger growth thresholds in a given year, it will be eligible for a rebate. The reader is directed to the GTAA’s Annual Information
Form for the year ended December 31, 2019 for additional information relating to the Air Canada agreement.
In January 2016, the GTAA entered into a long-term commercial agreement with WestJet having similar parameters to the Air Canada
commercial agreement. The WestJet agreement covered an initial four-year term, and has been automatically extended for an
additional four years until the end of 2023 as certain conditions were met.
The GTAA also has Airport Improvement Fee (“AIF”) agreements with each air carrier that takes off from and lands at Toronto Pearson
whereby air carriers undertake to collect AIF from each of their enplaned passengers on the GTAA’s behalf. AIF has been held constant
or lowered for the past 10 years.
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Revenues
Revenues are derived from aeronautical rates and charges (which include landing fees, general terminal charges and apron fees), AIF
and commercial revenues (which include car parking, ground transportation, concessions, rentals, counter fees, check-in fees, deicing
facility fees and other sources). Rentals include activities for both the GTAA and ACI.
Landing fees are based on the MTOW of arriving aircraft; general terminal charges are based on the number of seats of an arriving
aircraft; and apron fees are based on the usage of apron and aircraft gates and bridges. The AIF is charged on a per-enplaned
passenger basis. A significant portion of commercial revenues is correlated with passenger activity.
The following table summarizes the GTAA’s consolidated revenues for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017.

Revenues
2019

2018

324.0
193.7
517.7
315.2
203.3
37.0
555.5
448.1
1,521.3

318.5
191.3
509.8

($ millions)
Landing fees
General terminal charges
Aeronautical Revenues
Concessions & rentals
Car parking & ground transportation
Other
Commercial Revenues
Airport Improvement Fees
Total Revenues
(1)

277.5
191.8
32.6
501.9
460.0
1,471.7

Change $

Change(1) %

2017

5.5
2.4
7.9

1.7
1.3
1.5

312.2
188.8
501.0

37.7
11.5
4.4
53.6
(11.9)
49.6

13.6
6.0
13.6
6.1
(2.6)
3.4

241.4
177.7
31.5
450.6
436.1
1,387.7

“% Change” is based on detailed actual numbers (not rounded as presented).

Aeronautical revenues increased 1.5 per cent to $517.7 million during 2019, when compared to 2018, due to higher MTOW and seats in
2019 over 2018.
The GTAA also generates commercial revenues from concessions and rental properties, car parking and ground transportation and
other sources. The GTAA has a long-term objective to increase the proportion of total revenues that are generated through commercial
revenue streams at the Airport. In recent years, commercial revenues have been the fastest growing component of the GTAA’s
revenues. When combined with the 2008 and 2013 aeronautical rate reductions, the commercial revenues’ proportion of total revenues
has increased from approximately 25 per cent to 37 per cent over the period of 2008 to 2019.
Consolidated concession and rental revenues increased by 13.6 per cent to $315.2 million during 2019 when compared to 2018.
This increase was mainly due to the continued expansion of the GTAA’s corporate partnerships designed to enhance the passenger
experience, increased advertising, sponsorship and retail tenant revenues as a result of long-term strategic partnerships, and to the
revenues related to additional investment properties acquired in the fall of 2018. In 2019, the GTAA’s revenues from its retail tenants,
advertising and sponsorship partners (concession revenues) at the Airport increased 15.8 per cent to $167.0 million from $144.2 million
in 2018. Rental revenues increased 11.2 per cent to $148.2 million in 2019 from $133.3 million in 2018 primarily due to the acquisition
by ACI of commercial buildings, which generated additional rental revenues, and to increased rental rates and higher activity at the
Airport. Excluding ACI revenues (a non-GAAP financial measure), rental revenues increased by 9.2 per cent to $117.5 million during
2019 when compared to 2018.
During 2019, retail store sales per enplaned passenger at Toronto Pearson were $22.01 versus $21.66 in 2018, a $0.35 or 1.6 per cent
increase. Retail store sales are the gross sales generated by the GTAA’s retail tenants. These tenants, under their leasehold agreements
with the GTAA, pay a percentage of gross sales to the GTAA as rent. Retail stores include retail, restaurant and beverage establishments.
Car parking and ground transportation revenues increased 6.0 per cent to $203.3 million during 2019 when compared to 2018. The roll
out of an 18-month pilot program to allow transportation network companies, such as Uber and Lyft, to operate at Toronto Pearson
contributed towards this increase alongside a combination of rate increases, enhanced marketing and business development initiatives
in parking and ground transportation. Parking volumes have decreased slightly during 2019 over 2018 and there is a trend towards a
greater proportion of passengers using alternative ground transportation options.
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Other revenues, which are comprised of deicing, fire and emergency services training and other miscellaneous revenues, increased
13.6 per cent to $37.0 million during 2019, when compared to 2018. Deicing revenues have increased 9.1 per cent or $2.6 million
during 2019 to $31.2 million, compared to 2018, due to higher deicing costs in 2019 and the growth in flight activities.
AIF revenue decreased 2.6 per cent to $448.1 million during 2019 compared to 2018. This decrease was due to higher growth of
connecting passengers than origin and destination passengers, and Air Canada reporting higher connecting passengers in 2019.
The AIF fee for origin and destination passengers is $25 versus $4 for connecting passengers.
Total aeronautical, commercial and AIF revenue growth was negatively impacted in 2019 by the 737 MAX grounding in March 2019.

Expenses
Expenses include the costs to operate and maintain the Airport, interest and financing costs, and amortization of property and
equipment, investment property and intangible assets.
The following table summarizes GTAA’s consolidated expenses for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017.

Expenses
($ millions)

2019

2018

Ground rent

170.8
38.4
209.2
384.9
201.3
795.4

165.2
36.6
201.8
357.4
191.9
751.1

PILT2
Total ground rent and PILT
Goods and services
Salaries, wages and benefits
Total Operating Expenses before Amortization

Change $

Change(1) %

2017

5.6
1.8
7.4
27.5
9.4
44.3

3.4
5.0
3.7
7.7
4.9
5.9

156.9
36.3
193.2
314.9
175.7
683.8

Amortization of property and equipment, investment property and

290.8

277.0

13.8

5.0

264.7

1,086.2

1,028.1

58.1

5.6

948.5

295.3

298.5

(3.2)

(1.1)

327.0

–
–
1,381.5

28.7
2.7
1,358.0

(28.7)
(2.7)
23.5

(100.0)
(100.0)
1.7

–
–
1,275.5

intangible assets
Total Operating Expenses
Interest expense on debt instruments and other financing costs, net of
interest income
Early retirement of debt charge
Loss on cash flow hedge
Total Expenses
(1)

“% Change” is based on detailed actual numbers (not rounded as presented).

(2)

Payments-in-lieu of real property taxes.

Ground rent payments to the federal government are calculated as a percentage of Airport Revenues, as defined in the Ground Lease,
at a rate of 12 per cent of Airport Revenues in excess of $250 million. Ground rent expense increased by 3.4 per cent to $170.8 million
during 2019, when compared to 2018, due to an increase in Airport Revenues.
The GTAA is exempt from the payment of real property taxes under the Assessment Act (Ontario), and instead makes payments-in-lieu
of real property taxes (“PILT”) to each of the cities of Mississauga and Toronto, as prescribed by regulation. The annual PILT is based on
actual passenger volumes in a prior year and is subject to a maximum annual increase under the Assessment Act. The PILT expenditure
increased 5.0 per cent to $38.4 million during 2019, when compared to 2018. ACI pays municipal real property taxes in the ordinary
course of business, as the investment properties acquired by ACI are not used directly for Airport operations.
Ground rent and PILT together comprised approximately 19.3 per cent of the GTAA’s operating expenses, and 15.1 per cent of total
expenses in 2019.
Expenditures for goods and services increased 7.7 per cent or $27.5 million to $384.9 million during 2019, when compared to 2018.
The GTAA incurred higher expenditures due to increased snow removal costs of $11.2 million as a result of harsher winter weather
conditions in 2019, information technology costs of $6.6 million, costs related to the additional ACI properties acquired in the fall
of 2018 of $3.9 million, building repairs and maintenance costs of $2.6 million, and the increased spend on investments to support
improved passenger and baggage flow of $3.4 million. These items were partially offset by a decrease in utility costs of $3.6 million. For
the year-ended December 31, 2019, total spend to support improved passenger and baggage flow was approximately $79.3 million.
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Salaries, wages and benefits increased 4.9 per cent or $9.4 million to $201.3 million during 2019, when compared to 2018. The
increase was due to increased salaries, wages, additional busing/baggage/deicing and airfield maintenance staff, and expenditures in
connection with enhanced passenger and baggage flow partially offset by severance payouts in 2018.
Amortization of property and equipment, investment property and intangible assets increased 5.0 per cent to $290.8 million during
2019, when compared to 2018. This increase was due to additions to the depreciable asset base.
A significant portion of the GTAA’s operating expenses includes goods and services, salaries and amortization in support of the
activities provided by government agencies at the Airport. The GTAA’s operating costs to support government agencies during 2019
of $35.3 million decreased $0.9 million or 2.4 per cent, when compared to 2018. These included direct and indirect investments to
Canadian Air Transport Security Authority (“CATSA”), U.S. Customs and Border Protection (“USCBP”) and Canada Border Services Agency
(“CBSA”) to enhance the security and border services they provide. During 2019, according to CATSA published data, CATSA screened
19.8 million departing passengers at Toronto Pearson, an increase of approximately 210,539 or 1.1 per cent over 2018. Of these
screened passengers, 95.2 per cent waited less than 15 minutes to be screened compared to the CATSA funding standard service level
target across Canada of 85.0 per cent in less than 15 minutes.
Interest expense and other financing costs, net of interest income, decreased by 1.1 per cent to $295.3 million during 2019 when
compared to 2018. The decrease was due to higher capitalized interest from the larger spend on long-term capital projects and higher
interest income earned on the reserves as a result of higher-yielding returns. This was partially offset by higher fixed-rate interest costs
due to the issuance of Series 2019-1 and 2019-2 MTNs, and an increase in short-term debt interest costs due to higher interest rates in
2019 over 2018.

Net Operating Results
The following table summarizes the GTAA’s consolidated net operating results for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017.
($ millions)
Net Income
Add: Early retirement of debt charge
Loss on cash flow hedge
Less: Unamortized bond premium
Adjusted Net Income(2)
Add: Interest and financing costs, net
Unamortized bond premium
EBIT
Add: Amortization(3)
EBITDA(2)
EBITDA Margin

2019

139.8
–
–
–
139.8
295.3
–
435.1
290.8
725.9
47.7%

2018

113.7
28.7
2.7
(5.3)
139.8
298.5
5.3
443.6
277.0
720.6
49.0%

(1)

“% Change” is based on detailed actual numbers (not rounded as presented).

(2)

Adjusted Net Income and EBITDA are non-GAAP financial measures.

(3)

Amortization means amortization of property and equipment, investment property and intangible assets.

Change $

Change(1) %

2017

26.1
(28.7)
(2.7)
5.3
–
(3.2)
(5.3)
(8.5)
13.8
5.3

23.0
(100.0)
(100.0)
(100.0)
–
(1.1)
(100.0)
(1.9)
5.0
0.7
(1.3)pp

112.2
–
–
–
112.2
327.0
–
439.2
264.7
703.9
50.7%

The GTAA’s net income increased 23.0 per cent to $139.8 million during 2019, when compared to 2018. This increase was primarily due
to the lower interest and financing costs and the 2018 early retirement of debt charge from Series 2009-1 MTNs. Refer to the “Liquidity
and Capital Resources” section for details. Excluding the one-time interest and financing items, 2019 adjusted net income was flat when
compared to 2018 at $139.8 million. The higher snow removal costs in 2019 have impacted the strong operating performance. Adjusted
Net Income is a non-GAAP financial measure. Refer to section “Non-GAAP Financial Measures” of this MD&A for additional information.
Earnings before interest and financing costs and amortization (“EBITDA”) increased 0.7 per cent to $725.9 million during 2019, when
compared to 2018. The EBITDA margin decreased by 1.3 percentage points to 47.7 per cent during 2019, when compared to 2018.
The decrease in EBITDA margin was primarily a result of continued investment to maintain customer service, connection and flow
initiatives, and the higher snow removal costs in 2019. EBITDA is a non-GAAP financial measure. Refer to section “Non-GAAP Financial
Measures” of this MD&A for additional information.
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Summary of Quarterly Results
Select unaudited consolidated quarterly financial information for the quarters ended March 31, 2018 through December 31, 2019, is set
out in the following table.
Quarter Ended
2019

2018

($ millions)(1)

Dec

Sep

Jun

Mar

Dec

Sep

Jun

Mar

Revenues

385

403

371

362

Operating expenses (excluding amortization)(2)

210

189

188

207

367
200
73
94
74
–
–
20

397
180
68
149
75
–
–
74

359
179
68
112
75
–
–
37

349
192
68
89
74
29
3
(17)

Amortization(2)

74

73

73

71

101

141

110

84

Interest and financing costs, net

77

73

73

73

Early retirement of debt charge

–

–

–

–

(Gain) Loss on cash flow hedge

–

–

–

–

24

68

37

11

Earnings before interest and financing costs, net

Net income (loss)
(1)

Rounding may result in the figures differing from the results reported in the condensed consolidated interim financial statements.

(2)

Amortization means amortization of property and equipment, investment property and intangible assets.

The GTAA’s quarterly results are influenced by passenger activity and aircraft movements, which vary with travel demand associated with
holiday periods and other seasonal factors. In addition, factors such as weather and economic conditions may affect operating activity,
revenues and expenses. Changes in operating facilities at the Airport may affect operating costs, which may result in quarterly results not
being directly comparable. Due to these factors, the historical quarterly results cannot be relied upon to determine future trends.

Capital Projects
The GTAA continues to meet the growing demand for air travel by optimizing the use of the existing facilities at Toronto Pearson
and investing in the Airport’s physical infrastructure. The GTAA focuses on capital programs and projects which improve passenger,
baggage, and aircraft processing and flow, comply with regulatory requirements, and enhance the customer experience. Expenditures
related to these capital projects are funded primarily through cash flows generated from operations, with the remaining balance
funded by proceeds from debt issuances.
The GTAA’s most significant current and projected capital projects, progress-to-date and capital funds expended are as follows:
Terminal 1 Pier G Expansion – The GTAA is upgrading and expanding its capacity at the Pier G facility in Terminal 1 to accommodate
narrow body aircraft operations in response to increased passenger traffic at the Airport. This project will increase the planned narrow
body aircraft parking positions to 10, further expand the associated apron, increase the retail services for passengers travelling to
and from the United States and improve passenger flow and circulation. The building expansion was opened in 2017 and the work
associated with a new apron and the associated boarding bridges was completed in October 2019.
The Pier G expansion also includes planning and design to create additional hold room space, more efficient and secure passenger
flows, improve passenger experience by creating additional retail and lounge space, gate flexibility and a faster connection process
by creating a full arrivals corridor and contact stands. From the inception of the Pier G commuter facility upgrade and expansion to
December 31, 2019, the GTAA has expended $108.0 million. During 2019, the GTAA expended $37.8 million.
Baggage-Handling Improvements – The Baggage-Handling Improvements program has been undertaken in Terminal 1 and Terminal
3 to add baggage handling capacity, and improve system reliability and dependability, to meet current as well as future anticipated
baggage processing requirements. The current project commenced in the fourth quarter of 2018 and is expected to be completed in
2022. The program includes several design-build work packages that are intended to enhance the way the Airport operates and to
enhance the passenger experience. From the inception of the Baggage Handling Improvements to December 31, 2019, the GTAA has
expended $117.0 million. During 2019, the GTAA expended $94.2 million.
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Terminal 1 Redevelopment and Expansion (“T1REP”) Project One – The T1REP Project One consists of design and construction of
the mezzanine area above the existing arrivals baggage hall and relocates the USCBP facilities and In-transit Pre-clearance (“ITPC”)
facilities for origin and destination and connecting passengers. In addition, a new CATSA pre-board security facility will be provided for
passengers traveling to the United States and support associated flow within the building. The facility is expected to increase capacity
by an estimated 30 per cent and simplify passenger flow. From the inception of T1REP Project One to December 31, 2019, the GTAA has
expended $22.6 million. During 2019, the GTAA expended $10.8 million.
Terminal 1 Concourse F Sectorization – The Terminal 1 Concourse F Sectorization will increase passenger processing capacity, reduce
connection times and increase gate capacity and flexibility for narrow and wide body aircraft. The capacity increases will be achieved
by expanding CATSA and CBSA facilities and flows on level three for passengers, more direct connections to gates for passengers and
re-sectorization of Terminal 1 to provide access to large aircraft for international gates and gate modifications to allow larger aircraft.
From the inception of the Terminal 1 Concourse F Sectorization to December 31, 2019, the GTAA has expended $42.6 million. During
2019, the GTAA expended $29.5 million.
Due to the recent COVID-19 pandemic and its impact on global air traffic, third-party suppliers, contractors and service providers, some
of these projects and other capital expenditures may be postponed or, at Management’s discretion, deferred.

Future Capital Projects
The GTAA is undertaking designs, studies, and planning with respect to the following potential capital projects:
T1REP Future Projects – The plans and preliminary designs for future T1REP projects are being undertaken to create new gates to
support future increases in U.S. travel activity and to enhance further the GTAA’s mega hub strategy.
Terminal 3 Redevelopment and Expansion (“T3REP”) – Future Projects – The T3REP Future Projects program is intended to renovate
and upgrade the parts of the Terminal that were not part of the original Terminal 3 Improvement Projects. The preliminary planning
and design of these projects commenced in late 2018 and will focus on projects to meet passenger growth. From the inception of the
T3REP Future Projects to December 31, 2019, the GTAA has expended $9.4 million. During 2019, the GTAA expended $8.0 million.
Regional Transit Centre – The RTC is intended to be a regional ground transportation hub facilitating a much-needed improved
connection between the area surrounding Toronto Pearson and the rest of the Greater Toronto and Hamilton Area. The preliminary
design development commenced in 2018. From the inception of the RTC to December 31, 2019, the GTAA has expended $7.1 million.
During 2019, the GTAA expended $0.3 million.
The GTAA has engaged HOK, a leader in sustainable, high-performance projects, to initiate potential designs for the RTC at Toronto
Pearson. In addition, the GTAA and Metrolinx are working together to study potential connections for the Kitchener rail corridor and
possibly other potential transit connections to Toronto Pearson’s proposed RTC, linking the Airport to key urban centres in Southern
Ontario. The joint study will include, but is not limited to, a preliminary design, environmental assessment, feasibility study and detailed
cost analysis for a number of transportation options.
On December 4, 2019, the GTAA announced a financial investment to facilitate moving forward with the technical study work necessary
to extend the Eglinton Crosstown West from Renforth to the Airport. The GTAA is continuing to advocate for improved transit that
connects to Toronto Pearson and the Airport Employment Zone as well as the creation of the RTC, also known as Union Station West.
The GTAA will commit approximately $40 million to facilitate the study of bringing important transit connections to Toronto Pearson
and build a regional transit network, anchored by the proposed RTC. The GTAA is already investing $38 million in work currently
underway, and this additional announcement will bring the total investment to a potential $78 million.
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Assets and Liabilities
Total consolidated assets, liabilities and deficit and accumulated other comprehensive loss as at December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017,
are set out in the following table.

($ millions)

2019

2018

Total assets

6,583.4
6,806.9
(223.5)

6,437.6
6,811.1
(373.5)

Total liabilities
Deficit and accumulated other comprehensive loss

Change
2019–2018

145.8
(4.2)
150.0

2017

6,186.2
6,651.5
(465.3)

At December 31, 2019, when compared to December 31, 2018, the GTAA’s total assets had increased by $145.8 million mainly due
to a $92.8 million increase in property and equipment, $27.5 million increase in restricted funds, $7.7 million increase in cash and
$7.7 million increase in post-employment benefit asset. The GTAA’s total liabilities decreased by $4.2 million due to a $45.3 million
decrease in accounts payable and accrued liabilities partially offset by $41.4 million increase in borrowings.
The deficit and accumulated other comprehensive loss of $223.5 million at December 31, 2019, as reported on the consolidated
statements of financial position, has reduced due to the growth in passenger and flight activities and the results from operations over
the past several years.

Restricted Funds
($ millions)

2019

2018

Change
2019–2018

2017

Debt Service Fund

68.8
347.4
416.2

60.6
328.1
388.7

8.2
19.3
27.5

72.7
382.3
455.0

Debt Service Reserve Funds
Total MTI Restricted Funds

As shown in the table above, total restricted funds increased from $388.7 million in 2018 to $416.2 million in 2019 due to the GTAA’s
issuance of the Series 2019-1 and 2019-2 MTNs, partially offset by the early bond redemption of Series 2016-1 MTNs. The restricted
funds which are cash-funded have been invested in short-duration investment-grade instruments.
The various Debt Service Funds represent funds for regular payments of interest and principal and amounts set aside with the
Trustee under the GTAA’s MTI, as security for specific debt issues. As the GTAA has sufficient revenues and reserve funds to meet the
125 per cent debt service covenant under the MTI, no funds are currently required to be deposited into the Debt Service Coverage
Fund to meet the debt service covenant. The Operating and Maintenance Reserve Fund and the Renewal and Replacement Reserve
Fund are funded with letters of credit.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
The following table provides the calculation of consolidated free cash flow, net debt and key credit metrics for the GTAA for the
years indicated:
($ millions)
Cash flows from operating activities
Capital expenditures(1) – property and equipment
Capital expenditures(1) – investment property
Interest paid and other financing costs, net(2)
Early retirement of debt charge
Payment on termination of cash flow hedge
Free Cash Flow(3)
(Increase) Decrease in restricted funds
Borrowings (Repayments), net
Net Cash Inflow

2019

2018

729.1
(421.9)
(6.6)
(300.8)
–
–
(0.2)
(27.5)
35.4
7.7

730.6
(319.4)
(178.4)
(314.0)
(28.7)
(14.7)
(124.6)
66.2
68.7
10.3

Change

(1.5)
(102.5)
171.8
13.2
28.7
14.7
124.4
(93.7)
(33.3)
(2.6)

2017

724.5
(279.4)
(286.5)
(334.3)
–
–
(175.7)
22.0
92.0
(61.6)

MTI Rate Covenant(4)
Operating covenant (minimum requirement of 100%)
Debt service covenant (minimum requirement of 125%)

As at December 31 ($ millions)
Total Debt
Cash
Restricted funds
Net Debt(5)

137.1%
150.4%

135.9%
148.5%

1.2pp
1.9pp

137.6%
144.9%

2019

2018

Change

2017

6,411.7
30.2
416.2
5,965.3

6,370.3
22.5
388.7
5,959.1

41.4
7.7
27.5
6.2

6,311.8
12.2
455.0
5,844.6

254
236

258
241

(1.6)%
(2.1)%

268
248

Key Credit Metrics ($)
Total Debt/Enplaned Passenger(6)
Net Debt(5)/Enplaned Passenger(6)
(1)

Capital expenditures – property and equipment are acquisition and construction of property and equipment and intangible assets; Capital
expenditures – investment property are acquisitions and construction of investment property. Both are per the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
in the Consolidated Financial Statements as at December 31, 2019.

(2)

Interest and financing costs excludes non-cash items and reflects the cash payment activities of the Corporation net of interest income, therefore, it is
a non-GAAP financial measure. Refer to section “Non-GAAP Financial Measures”.

(3)

Free cash flow, a non-GAAP financial measure, is defined as cash flow from operating activities per the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows less
interest and financing costs paid, net of interest income, less capital expenditures (property and equipment, and investment property). Refer to section
“Non-GAAP Financial Measures”.

(4)

The MTI contains a Rate Covenant, consisting of two financial tests (an operating covenant and debt service covenant).

(5)

Net Debt, a non-GAAP financial measure, is gross debt less cash and restricted funds. Refer to section “Non-GAAP Financial Measures”.

(6)

Enplaned passengers are defined as equal to half of total passengers and is based on the prior 12 months activity.

Cash flows from operations decreased by $1.5 million to $729.1 million during 2019, when compared to 2018. The free cash flow deficit
reduced by $124.4 million during 2019, when compared to 2018, due to lower property acquisitions and interest expense in 2019, and
the early retirement of debt charge and the termination of cash flow hedges in 2018, partially offset by the higher capital expenditures
of property and equipment in 2019. Free cash flow is a non-GAAP financial measure. Refer to section “Non-GAAP Financial Measures” of
this MD&A for additional information.
Net Debt increased by $6.2 million to $6.0 billion as at December 31, 2019 when compared to December 31, 2018. Net Debt is a nonGAAP financial measure. Refer to section “Non-GAAP Financial Measures” of this MD&A for additional information.
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The following chart tracks the GTAA’s increase of gross debt over the last five years from $6.3 billion in 2015 to $6.4 billion in 2019 and
an increase in net debt from $5.8 billion in 2015 to $6.0 billion in 2019.

The GTAA’s total debt per enplaned passenger, one of the airport industry’s key financial metrics, declined from $307 in 2015 to $254 in
2019, and net debt per enplaned passenger declined from $282 in 2015 to $236 in 2019. The GTAA’s debt per enplaned passenger has
been on a downward trajectory over the last several years, as illustrated in the following chart. Net debt per enplaned passenger is a
non-GAAP financial measure. Refer to section “Non-GAAP Financial Measures” of this MD&A for additional information.

The GTAA’s approach to rate-setting and the generation of commercial revenues, together with the GTAA’s liquidity and interest rate
risk management practices, enables it to manage its debt levels and debt service costs. In the past, the GTAA has redeemed certain
of its debt prior to its scheduled maturity and may do so in the future. In addition, the GTAA may from time to time seek to retire or
purchase any outstanding debt through cash purchases in the open market, privately negotiated transactions or otherwise. Such
redemptions and purchases, if any, will depend on excess cash and reserve balances, prevailing market conditions, and other factors.
These activities are intended to reduce the gross amount of the GTAA’s outstanding debt gradually and thereby reduce the GTAA’s
annual net interest expense.
An overall Capital Markets Platform has been established by the GTAA with the MTI setting out the security and other common terms
and conditions of all debt, including bank facilities, revenue bonds and MTNs. The platform has been used to fund certain capital
programs, and the GTAA will continue to access the capital markets to fund capital programs and to refinance maturing debt as and
when needed.
The objective of the GTAA’s investment and cash management strategy is to ensure that the cash requirements for operations,
capital programs and other demands are met, and to access capital markets as may be required. The GTAA monitors its cash flow
requirements accordingly. Given the availability of its credit facilities, its restricted fund balances, the ability to access the capital
markets, and its projected operating cash flows, the GTAA does not anticipate any funding shortfalls during 2020. There may, however,
be events outside of the control of the GTAA that could have a negative impact on its liquidity. Refer to the “Risk Factors” section.
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On April 3, 2019, the GTAA issued $500.0 million Series 2019-1 MTNs due April 3, 2029 at a coupon rate of 2.73 per cent for net
proceeds of $497.9 million. The net proceeds partially reduced outstanding Commercial Paper (“CP”).
On September 25, 2019, the GTAA exercised its right to redeem all $300.0 million of the outstanding Series 2016-1 MTNs on October 25,
2019 (the “redemption date”). The Series 2016-1 MTNs had an original maturity date of February 21, 2021. To refinance the redemption
of the Series 2016-1 MTNs, the GTAA issued on October 17, 2019 $900.0 million Series 2019-2 MTNs due October 17, 2039 at a coupon
rate of 2.75 per cent for net proceeds of $894.3 million. The remaining proceeds of this issuance were used to partially pay down
outstanding CP.
The GTAA’s long-term debt obligations have been assigned credit ratings by Standard & Poor’s Rating Service (“S&P”) and Moody’s
Investors Service, Inc. (“Moody’s”) of “A+” and “Aa3”, respectively. The GTAA’s CP obligations have been assigned a credit rating of
“R-1 (low)” and an issuer rating of “A (high)” by DBRS. Ratings are intended to provide investors with an independent view of credit
quality. These ratings are not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject to revision or withdrawal at any
time by the rating organization. Each rating should be evaluated independently of any other rating. The GTAA’s Annual Information
Form for the year ended December 31, 2019 contains more detailed information about the GTAA’s credit ratings.

Liquidity and Credit Facilities

Source
Cash

Available

As at
December 31,
2018
Available

30.2

22.5

As at December 31, 2019

($ millions)
Currency

Expiry

Size

Drawn/CP
Backstop

CAD

Credit facilities:
1) Revolving Operating Facility(1)

CAD

May 22, 2022

1,400.0

–
60.0

CAD

May 22, 2022

150.0
1,550.0

109.2
169.2

CAD

Per contract

150.0
1,700.0

–
169.2

Commercial paper backstop(1)
Available for general use
2) Letter of Credit Facility
Total net liquidity (including cash)
3) Hedge Facility(2)
Total credit facilities and cash

1,400.0
(60.0)
1,340.0
40.8
1,380.8
1,411.0
150.0
1,561.0

1,400.0
(1,098.8)
301.2
50.8
352.0
374.5
150.0
524.5

(1)

At December 31, 2019, $60.0 million of the revolving operating facility fully backstopped the $60.0 million of outstanding CP.

(2)

The hedge facility is a non-cash facility and allows the Corporation to enter into derivative transactions. Any amounts reported represent ‘mark-tomarket’ losses on outstanding contracts.

The GTAA maintains the credit facilities set out in the above table. These facilities rank pari passu with all other debt. The revolving
operating credit facility and the letter of credit facility can be extended annually for one additional year with lenders’ consent. The
$1.4 billion revolving operating credit facility is used to fund capital projects or operating expenses, as required, backstop the CP
program and provide flexibility on the timing for accessing the capital markets. As part of the GTAA’s CP program, any CP outstanding
at any given time is fully backstopped by the revolving operating credit facility. As at December 31, 2019, $60.0 million of CP was
outstanding, no amounts were utilized from the revolving operating credit facility, $109.2 million of the $150.0 million letter of credit
facility was utilized, and no amounts were secured on the $150.0 million hedge facility.
As at December 31, 2019, the GTAA had a working capital deficiency of $310.0 million, as computed by subtracting current liabilities
from current assets. This consisted mainly of interest accruals on long-term debt, regular accruals and the $60.0 million of outstanding
CP. Working capital is a financial metric that measures the short-term liquidity for those assets that can readily be converted into
cash to satisfy both short-term liabilities and near-term operating costs and capital expenditures. As at December 31, 2019, the GTAA
had $1.3 billion available for general corporate purposes and $60.0 million available that backstopped the outstanding CP under its
revolving operating credit facility. Management believes that the available credit under the revolving operating credit facility, its cash
flows from operations, and the GTAA’s ability to access the capital markets provide sufficient liquidity for the GTAA to meet its financial
obligations and other current liabilities as they come due.
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The following table analyzes the GTAA’s short- and long-term contractual obligations in nominal dollars as at December 31, 2019
by relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the date of the statement of financial position to the contractual
maturity date. It does not include pension and post-retirement benefit obligations as maturities are variable based on timing of
individuals leaving the plan. The table has been prepared based on the contractual undiscounted cash flows based on the earliest
date on which the GTAA can be required to pay. The debt obligations include both principal and interest cash flows.

Contractual Obligations
($ millions)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Purchase obligations(1)
Commercial paper
Long-term debt principal
Interest payable on long-term debt

(1)

Total

Less than
1 year

1 year to
3 years

4 year to
5 years

Thereafter

287.9
1,285.1
60.0
6,326.2
4,506.2
12,465.4

287.9
642.6
60.0
19.4
318.1
1,328.0

–
418.7
–
430.7
632.3
1,481.7

–
153.0
–
48.4
603.0
804.4

–
70.8
–
5,827.7
2,952.8
8,851.3

Purchase obligations include commitments for goods and services contracts as at December 31, 2019 the GTAA entered into that are required
to operate the Corporation in the ordinary course of business over the next few years. It also includes capital and property commitments of
approximately $297.7 million.

Accounts payable, accrued liabilities and purchase obligations are expected to be funded through operations, while the commercial
paper and long-term debt obligations and related interest payable are expected to be funded primarily through a combination of
borrowings from accessing the capital markets and cash flows generated from operations.
In connection with the operation and development of the Airport, the GTAA had capital commitments outstanding at December 31,
2019 of approximately $297.7 million, as compared to $327.8 million at December 31, 2018. The GTAA expects to fund these
commitments primarily through its cash flow from operations, and where necessary through further issuances of debt.
A measure of the GTAA’s ability to service its indebtedness is its ability to comply with certain covenants in the MTI. The MTI contains
a Rate Covenant, consisting of two financial tests (an operating covenant and debt service covenant) such that: i) Revenues in each
Fiscal Year are sufficient to make all required debt service payments and deposits in funds and reserve funds, and all other payments
required to be made by the GTAA in the ordinary course of its consolidated business; and ii) Net Revenues, together with any Transfer
from the General Fund in each Fiscal Year, equal at least 125 per cent of the Annual Debt Service for each Fiscal Year; (as such
capitalized terms are defined in the MTI). The GTAA sets its rates and charges, fees, and rentals so that these two covenants under
the MTI are met. Both covenant tests exclude amortization of property and equipment, investment property and intangible assets
from expenses. The debt service covenant does, however, include a notional amortization, over a 30-year period of outstanding
debt. Inclusion of the notional debt amortization further determines whether net revenues are sufficient to retire debt over 30 years,
which is considered appropriate for an infrastructure provider with significant, long-term use assets. In 2019, the GTAA’s operating
covenant ratio was 137.1 per cent, which is above the minimum requirement of 100 per cent and the debt service covenant ratio was
150.4 per cent, which is above the minimum requirement of 125 per cent, both under the MTI.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures
Throughout this MD&A, there are references to the following performance measures which in management’s view are valuable in
assessing the economic performance of the GTAA. While these financial measures are not defined by IFRS, and they are referred to as
non-GAAP measures which may not have any standardized meaning, they are common benchmarks in the industry, and are used by
the GTAA in assessing its operating results, including operating profitability, cash flow and investment program.

Adjusted Net Income
Adjusted Net Income is defined as net income before the early retirement of debt charge, the remaining unamortized bond premium,
and the loss on the cash flow hedge.

EBITDA and EBITDA Margin
EBITDA is earnings before interest and financing costs and amortization, and EBITDA margin is EBITDA divided by revenues. EBITDA is
a commonly used measure of a company’s operating performance. This is used to evaluate the GTAA’s performance without having to
factor in financing and accounting decisions.
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Free Cash Flow
Free Cash Flow (“FCF”) is cash flow from operating activities per the consolidated statements of cash flows less capital expenditures
(property and equipment, and investment property) and interest and financing costs paid, net of interest income (excluding non-cash
items). FCF is used to assess funds available for debt reduction or future investments within Toronto Pearson.

Net Debt
Net Debt is defined as gross debt less cash and restricted funds. 		

Net Debt per Enplaned Passenger
Net Debt per Enplaned Passenger is defined as net debt over total enplaned passengers (“EPAX”). EPAX is defined as equal to half of
total passengers and is based on the prior 12-months’ activity. EPAX is widely used in the aviation industry and represents a passenger
boarding a plane at a particular airport. Net debt per EPAX is commonly used by airports and other users to assess an appropriate debt
burden for an airport.

Significant Accounting Policies and Estimates
The significant accounting policies of the GTAA and changes thereto are set out in Notes 3 and 4, respectively, of the Consolidated
Financial Statements as at December 31, 2019 and 2018. These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the GTAA
consolidated with those of its wholly-owned and controlled subsidiaries, MGI and ACI. All inter-company transactions, balances,
revenues and expenses have been eliminated on consolidation.
The GTAA has adopted the following new and/or revised standards effective January 1, 2019. These changes were made in accordance
with the applicable transitional provisions.

a) IFRS 16, Leases:
This standard was issued in January 2016 and sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure
of leases. This standard replaced IAS 17, Leases. The objective of the standard is to ensure that lessees and lessors provide relevant
information in a manner that faithfully represents those transactions. This information gives a basis for users of financial statements
to assess the effect that leases have on the financial position, financial performance and cash flows of the entity. The accounting for
lessors did not significantly change. IFRS 16 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019. The GTAA has applied
the definition of a lease in IFRS 16 to all contracts outstanding at the date of transition using the modified retrospective method, where
the comparative period is not restated. The GTAA has assessed the impact of the new standard on the Ground Lease. There is no impact
on the consolidated financial statements with respect to accounting for the Ground Lease under the new standard as lease payments
are contingent based on Airport Revenue, and therefore, the expense will continue to be recognized in the consolidated statements of
operations and comprehensive income on an accrual basis. The GTAA has also evaluated the impact of this standard with respect to other
leases and embedded leases and has concluded that there are no material other leases or embedded leases that require recognition on
adoption of this standard. The GTAA has evaluated the impact of this standard with respect to the sublease of land under the Ground
Lease and has concluded that there are no material subleases that require recognition on adoption of this standard.

b) Amendments to IAS 19, Employee Benefits:
This standard was amended to modify the guidance in connection with defined benefit plans and accounting for plan amendments,
settlements or curtailments. The amendments were effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019. The adoption of
these amendments did not have an impact on the consolidated financial statements.

c) Amendments to IAS 23, Borrowing Costs:
These amendments clarify that if a specific borrowing remains outstanding after the related qualifying asset is ready for its intended
use or sale, it becomes part of general borrowings. These amendments were applied prospectively for borrowing costs incurred on or
after the beginning of annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019. The adoption of these amendments did not have an impact
on the consolidated financial statements.
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d) Amendments to IFRS 9, Financial Instruments:
This standard was amended to enable companies to measure at amortized cost some prepayable financial assets with negative
compensation. The assets affected, which include some loans and debt securities, would otherwise have been measured at Fair Value
through Profit or Loss (“FVPL”). Financial assets that would otherwise have contractual cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest, but do not meet that condition only as a result of a prepayment feature with negative compensation, may be measured at
amortized cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income when eligibility conditions are met. These amendments to IFRS 9
also clarify how to account for the modification of a financial liability. Most such modifications will result in immediate recognition
of a gain or loss. The amendments were effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019. The adoption of these
amendments did not have an impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Accounting Standards Issued but not yet Applied
a) A
 mendments to IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements and IAS 8, Accounting Policies, Changes in
Accounting Estimates and Errors:
These standards were amended to use a consistent definition of materiality throughout all accounting standards, clarify the
explanation of the definition of material and incorporate some of the guidance in IAS 1 about immaterial information. The
amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2020. The adoption of these amendments will not have a
significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.

b) Amendments to IFRS 3, Business Combinations:
This standard was amended to improve the definition of a business. The amendments will help companies determine whether an
acquisition made is of a business or a group of assets. To be considered a business, an acquisition would have to include an input
and a substantive process that together significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs. The amendments are effective for
annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2020. The adoption of these amendments will not have a significant impact on the
consolidated financial statements.

Related Party Transactions
As a corporation without share capital, the GTAA has Members rather than shareholders. The Members of the GTAA are also its
directors. The GTAA is governed by a 15-member Board of Directors. Seven Directors are elected by the Members from candidates
who are identified and assessed through a search process. Five Directors are elected by the Members from candidates nominated by
the following municipalities: the regional municipalities of York, Halton, Peel and Durham, and the City of Toronto. Two Directors are
elected by the Members from nominees of the Government of Canada and one Director is elected by the Members from a nominee of
the Province of Ontario.
As a result of the ability of the Government of Canada to nominate Members, this government and its respective government-related
entities are considered related parties for accounting purposes only.
The GTAA has applied the exemption for government-related entities to disclose only significant transactions. CATSA is a related party.
The GTAA’s related parties also includes Key Management personnel. Key Management includes the CEO, the CFO and the Vice Presidents
who have the authorities and responsibilities for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the GTAA. At December 31, 2019, the
GTAA had normal course transactions with key management personnel in the ordinary course of their employment with the GTAA. The
GTAA’s Board of Directors collectively oversee the management and operation of the Airport. The Board of Directors are, only for the
purposes hereof, also considered Key Management, although all are independent of management. In this respect, the GTAA had normal
course transactions with the Board of Directors with respect to compensation paid in connection with their role as a director.

GTAA ANNUAL REPORT 2019

30

Internal Controls and Procedures
Disclosure Controls and Procedures and Internal Controls over Financial Reporting
Disclosure controls and procedures within the Corporation have been designed to provide reasonable assurance that all relevant
information is identified to its President and Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”), its Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”) and its Disclosure
Committee to ensure appropriate and timely decisions are made regarding public disclosure.
Internal controls over financial reporting have been designed by management, under the supervision of, and with the participation of
the Corporation’s CEO and CFO, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of the Corporation’s financial reporting and
its preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with IFRS.
The Corporation has filed certifications as required by National Instrument 52-109 Certification of Disclosure in Issuers’ Annual and
Interim Filings, signed by the Corporation’s CEO and CFO, that report on the appropriateness of the financial disclosure, the design
and effectiveness of the Corporation’s disclosure controls and procedures and the design and effectiveness of internal controls over
financial reporting.
The Corporation’s Audit Committee reviewed this MD&A and the audited consolidated financial statements, and the Corporation’s
Board of Directors approved these documents prior to their release.

Management’s Report on Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Management, under the supervision of and with the participation of the Corporation’s CEO and CFO, evaluated the effectiveness of the
Corporation’s disclosure controls and procedures (as defined under National Instrument 52-109) and concluded, as at December 31,
2019, that such disclosure controls and procedures were effective.

Management’s Report on Internal Controls over Financial Reporting
Management, under the supervision of and with the participation of the Corporation’s CEO and CFO, evaluated the effectiveness of
the Corporation’s internal controls over financial reporting (as defined under National Instrument 52-109). In making this evaluation,
management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commissions (“COSO”)
in Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013). Based on that evaluation, management and the CEO and CFO have concluded
that, as at December 31, 2019, the Corporation’s internal controls over financial reporting were effective. This evaluation took into
consideration the Corporation’s Corporate Disclosure Policy and the functioning of its Disclosure Committee.
No changes were made in internal controls over financial reporting during the year ended December 31, 2019 that have materially
affected or, are reasonably likely to materially affect the Corporation’s internal controls over financial reporting. Management will
continue to monitor the effectiveness of its internal controls over financial reporting and disclosure controls and procedures and may
make modifications from time to time as considered necessary or desirable.

Risk Factors
The GTAA, its operations, and its financial results are subject to certain risks. The GTAA’s Board of Directors is accountable for the
oversight of the key enterprise risks of the GTAA’s business and is responsible for determining that management has effective policies
and procedures to identify, assess and manage such risks.
The GTAA has established an Enterprise Risk Management (“ERM”) program to instill risk awareness among employees and provide a
disciplined approach to identify, assess, treat and manage risks. An enterprise-wide approach enables business and external risks to be
managed and aligned with the GTAA’s strategic goals.
Please see the Corporation’s most recent Annual Information Form available on www.sedar.com for a discussion of risk factors
that could materially affect the GTAA’s business, operating results, and financial condition. The risk factors described in the Annual
Information Form are not the only risks and uncertainties that the Corporation faces. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently
known to the GTAA or that the GTAA considers immaterial may also materially and adversely affect its business operations.
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Caution Regarding Forward-Looking Information
This MD&A contains certain forward-looking information about the GTAA. This forward-looking information is based on a variety of
assumptions and is subject to risks and uncertainties. There is significant risk that predictions, forecasts, conclusions and projections,
which constitute forward-looking information, will not prove to be accurate, that the assumptions may not be correct and that actual
results may vary from the forward-looking information.
Words such as “believe”, “expect”, “plan”, “intend”, “estimate”, “anticipate” and similar expressions, as well as future or conditional verbs
such as “will”, “should”, “would” and “could” often identify forward-looking information. Specific forward-looking information in this MD&A
includes, among others, statements regarding the following: expected growth in passenger volumes; additional investment in the Airport
including with respect to capital projects and physical infrastructure; the GTAA’s business strategy and highlights; expected growth
in domestic and international passenger traffic and cargo; future growth in Airport demand or activity; the GTAA’s capital borrowing
requirements and program and its ability to access the capital markets; the GTAA’s ability to comply with covenant ratios; airline load
factors and fleet mix; the GTAA’s rate-setting methodology and its relationship to financial and corporate sustainability and debt levels and
service costs; revenues, cash flows, working capital and liquidity including the GTAA’s ability to mitigate any working capital deficiency and
no funding shortfalls in 2020; reductions in average air carrier’s cost per enplaned passenger; the mega hub strategy; terminal, airside,
infield and other capital developments at the Airport and the funding of the developments; budgets and expenditures relating to capital
programs and the funding of such programs; the timing of construction and commencement of operations of facilities currently planned
or under construction at the Airport including the new concourse and processor expansion, passenger terminal processor, and the
Regional Transit Centre; the redemption or purchase of outstanding debt and associated savings in net interest and financing costs; the
use of certain restricted reserve funds; and the funding of outstanding capital commitments.
The forward-looking information is based on a variety of material factors and assumptions including, but not limited to, the following:
long-term growth in population, employment and personal income will provide the basis for increased aviation demand in the GTA;
the Canadian, U.S. and global economies will grow at expected levels; air carrier capacity will meet the demand for air travel in the GTA;
the growth and sustainability of air carriers will contribute to aviation demand in the GTA; the GTA will continue to attract domestic
and international travellers; the commercial aviation industry will not be significantly affected by air transportation industry risks; the
cost of enhancing aviation security will not overly burden air carriers, passengers, shippers or the GTAA; no significant event such as a
natural disaster or other calamity will occur that has an impact on the ordinary course of business or the macroeconomic environment;
the GTAA will be able to access the capital markets at competitive terms and rates; and there are no significant cost over-runs or delays
relating to capital programs. These assumptions are based on information currently available to the GTAA, including information
obtained by the GTAA from third-party experts and analysts.
Risk factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from the results expressed or implied by forward-looking information
include, but are not limited to: continuing volatility in current and future economic activity including shocks to the macroeconomic
environment (changes in fuel prices, inflation, currencies, employment and spending); reduced levels of aviation activity; outbreaks or
the threat of outbreaks, viruses or other contagions or diseases including COVID-19 and related travel advisories; air carrier instability
or disruptions to air carrier fleet capacity; wars, riots or political action; labour disruptions; disruptions caused by extreme weather,
natural disasters or other events which impact air industry networks; geopolitical unrest; acts of terrorism or cyber-security threats;
disruptions to information technology infrastructure; the loss of key personnel; capital market conditions; currency fluctuations;
changes in laws or regulations including rate regulation; adverse amendments to the Ground Lease; the use of telecommunications
and ground transportation as alternatives to air travel; loss of commercial revenues; the availability and cost of jet fuel; carbon
emission costs and restrictions; adverse regulatory developments or proceedings; environmental factors and climate change; the
availability of aviation liability and other insurance; the timing of recovery of receipt of insurance proceeds; construction risk; legal
proceedings and litigation; and other risks detailed from time to time in the GTAA’s publicly filed disclosure documents and, in
particular, those identified in the Annual Information Form available at www.sedar.com.
The forward-looking information contained in this MD&A represents expectations as of the date of this report and is subject to
change. Except as required by applicable law, the GTAA disclaims any intention or obligation to update or revise any forward-looking
information whether as a result of new information or future events or for any other reason.
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Management’s Responsibility
for Financial Reporting
The financial statements of the Greater Toronto Airports Authority have been prepared by management and approved by the
Board of Directors and the Members of the Greater Toronto Airports Authority. Management is responsible for the preparation and
presentation of the information contained in these financial statements and other sections of this Annual Report. The Greater Toronto
Airports Authority maintains appropriate systems of internal control, policies and procedures which provide management with
reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded and that financial records are reliable and form a proper basis for the preparation
of financial statements.
The Greater Toronto Airports Authority’s independent auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, have been appointed by the Members of
the Corporation to express their professional opinion on the fairness of these financial statements.
The Board of Directors ensures that management fulfills their responsibilities for financial reporting and internal controls through an
Audit Committee, which is composed of five directors. This Committee reviews the financial statements and reports to the Board of
Directors. The auditor has full and direct access to the Audit Committee.

Deborah Flint
President and Chief Executive Officer
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Board of Directors of Greater Toronto Airports Authority

Our opinion
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
Greater Toronto Airports Authority and its subsidiaries (together, the Company) as at December 31, 2019 and 2018, and its financial
performance and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by
the International Accounting Standards Board (IFRS).

What we have audited
The Company’s consolidated financial statements comprise:
• the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2019 and 2018;
• the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income for the years then ended;
• the consolidated statements of changes in deficit and accumulated other comprehensive loss for the years then ended;
• the consolidated statements of cash flows for the years then ended; and
• the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting policies.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence
We are independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated
financial statements in Canada. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

Other information
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report
comprises the Management’s Discussion and Analysis.
Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing
so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
If, based on the work we have performed on the other information obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the consolidated
financial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS,
and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing
standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional judgment and
maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.
• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by management.
• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our
auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.
• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.
• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within the
Company to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants
Toronto, Ontario
March 26, 2020
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Consolidated Statements of
Financial Position
As at December 31 (in thousands of Canadian dollars)

2019

2018

$

$

30,249
68,827
86,741
6,379
12,416
204,612

22,530
60,608
87,211
4,987
11,215
186,551

347,374
95,570
5,402,076
473,328
60,433
6,583,393

328,128
85,185
5,309,278
475,701
52,711
6,437,554

287,949
84,792
141,826
514,567

333,254
84,836
1,173,246
1,591,336

13,396
9,096
6,269,861
6,806,920
(223,527)
6,583,393

15,598
7,121
5,197,009
6,811,064
(373,510)
6,437,554

Assets
Current assets
Cash
Restricted funds (Note 6)
Accounts receivable (Note 7)
Prepaids
Inventory
Non-current assets
Restricted funds (Note 6)
Intangibles and other assets (Note 8)
Property and equipment (Note 9)
Investment property (Note 10)
Post-employment benefit asset (Note 13)
Liabilities
Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 18)
Security deposits and deferred revenue
Long-term debt and commercial paper (Note 11)
Non-current liabilities
Deferred credit (Note 8)
Post-employment benefit liabilities (Note 13)
Long-term debt (Note 11)
Deficit and Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

Commitments and Contingent Liabilities (Note 15)
Subsequent Event (Note 21)
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Signed on Behalf of the Board

Signed on Behalf of the Board

Doug Allingham
Chair

Roger Mahabir
Director
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Consolidated Statements
of Operations and
Comprehensive Income
Years Ended December 31 (in thousands of Canadian dollars)

2019

2018

$

$

323,944
193,653
448,082
203,316
167,001
148,243
37,017

318,533
191,261
459,964
191,800
144,276
133,309
32,585

1,521,256

1,471,728

170,803
384,867
201,275
38,382
277,350
4,454
9,017
1,086,148
435,108
11,858
(307,147)
–
–
(295,289)
139,819

165,249
357,394
191,915
36,554
268,548
1,226
7,200
1,028,086
443,642
8,021
(306,576)
(28,698)
(2,686)
(329,939)
113,703

Revenues (Note 17)
Landing fees
General terminal charges
Airport Improvement Fees
Car parking and ground transportation
Concessions
Rentals
Other
Operating Expenses
Ground rent (Notes 1 and 12)
Goods and services (Note 19)
Salaries, wages and benefits
Payments-in-lieu of real property taxes
Amortization of property and equipment (Note 9)
Amortization of intangibles (Note 8)
Amortization of investment property (Note 10)
Earnings before interest and financing costs, net
Interest income
Interest expense on debt instruments and other financing costs
Early retirement of debt charge
Loss on cash flow hedge
Interest and financing costs, net (Note 11)
Net Income
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to Net Income:
Amortization of terminated hedges and interest rate swap
Loss on cash flow hedge

4,030
–

2,454
(12,047)

6,134
10,164
149,983

(12,314)
(21,907)
91,796

Items that may not be reclassified subsequently to Net Income:
Pension remeasurements (Note 13)
Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Total Comprehensive Income
Related party transactions (Note 14)
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of
Changes in Deficit and Accumulated
Other Comprehensive Loss
Year Ended December 31, 2019 (in thousands of Canadian dollars)
Balance, January 1, 2019
Net Income
Amortization of terminated hedges and interest rate swap
Pension remeasurements
Total Comprehensive Income for the year
Balance, December 31, 2019

Year Ended December 31, 2018 (in thousands of Canadian dollars)
Balance, January 1, 2018
Net Income
Amortization of terminated hedges and interest rate swap
Loss on cash flow hedge
Pension remeasurements
Total Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the year
Balance, December 31, 2018

Deficit

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Loss

Total

$
(349,190)
139,819
–

$
(24,320)
–
4,030

$
(373,510)
139,819
4,030

6,134
145,953
(203,237)

–
4,030
(20,290)

6,134
149,983
(223,527)

Deficit

$
(450,579)
113,703
–
–
(12,314)
101,389
(349,190)

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Loss

$
(14,727)
–
2,454
(12,047)
–
(9,593)
(24,320)

Total

$
(465,306)
113,703
2,454
(12,047)
(12,314)
91,796
(373,510)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

GTAA ANNUAL REPORT 2019

38

Consolidated Statements of
Cash Flows
Years Ended December 31 (in thousands of Canadian dollars)

2019

2018

$

$

139,819

113,703

277,350
9,017
9,550
490
387
295,289
(2,202)

268,548
7,200
6,322
355
(121)
329,939
(2,202)

470
(1,392)
(1,201)
1,605
(43)
729,139

(17,861)
782
(1,918)
20,621
5,224
730,592

(421,864)
(6,644)
116
(27,465)
(455,857)

(319,399)
(178,352)
66
66,237
(431,448)

1,389,965
(318,258)
–
(1,036,493)
(300,777)
–
–
(265,563)
7,719
22,530
30,249

496,267
(1,000,052)
(25,000)
597,424
(314,009)
(28,698)
(14,733)
(288,801)
10,343
12,187
22,530

Cash Flows from (used in) Operating Activities
Net Income
Adjustments for:
Amortization of property and equipment
Amortization of investment property
Amortization of intangibles and other assets
Net loss on disposal of property and equipment and intangible assets
Post-employment benefit plans
Interest and financing costs, net
Amortization of deferred credit
Changes in working capital:
Accounts receivable
Prepaids
Inventory
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Security deposits and deferred revenue
Cash Flows from (used in) Investing Activities
Acquisition and construction of property and equipment and intangible assets
Acquisition and construction of investment property
Proceeds on disposal of property and equipment
(Increase) decrease in restricted funds
Cash Flows from (used in) Financing Activities
Issuance of medium-term notes, net of issuance costs
Repayment of medium-term notes and long-term debt
Repayment on credit facility
(Repayment) issuance of commercial paper
Interest paid and other financing costs, net
Payment of early retirement of debt charge
Payment on termination of cash flow hedge
Net Cash Inflow
Cash, beginning of year
Cash, end of year

As at December 31, 2019, cash consisted of cash of $31.0 million (December 31, 2018 – $23.7 million) less outstanding cheques of $0.8 million
(December 31, 2018 – $1.2 million).
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements
December 31, 2019 and 2018
(Unless otherwise stated, all amounts are in thousands of Canadian dollars)

1. General Information
The Greater Toronto Airports Authority (“GTAA”) is a Canadian Airport Authority and a corporation without share capital under the
Canada Not-for-profit Corporations Act.
The GTAA is authorized to manage and operate airports within the south-central Ontario region, including the Greater Toronto Area,
on a commercial basis, to set fees for their use and to develop and improve the facilities. In accordance with this mandate, the GTAA
currently manages and operates Toronto – Lester B. Pearson International Airport (the “Airport”) under a ground lease with the federal
government, which was executed in December 1996 (the “Ground Lease”).
The GTAA’s registered office and principal place of business is located at 3111 Convair Drive, Mississauga, Ontario, Canada.

Airport Subject to Ground Lease
The Ground Lease is the principal document governing the relationship between the GTAA and Transport Canada at the Airport.
It determines the rent to be paid and generally allocates risk and responsibilities between the GTAA and the federal government
for all matters related to the operation of the Airport. Under the Ground Lease, all revenue and expenditure contracts in effect
on December 1, 1996 were assigned to the GTAA. The GTAA did not assume any liability with respect to claims against the federal
government incurred prior to December 2, 1996.
By virtue of its status as the tenant under the Ground Lease, the GTAA has the authority to set and collect airline rates and charges;
negotiate and issue leases, licences and permits; and construct and develop the infrastructure of the Airport. The Ground Lease
permits the GTAA to pledge its leasehold interest in the Airport as security.
The Ground Lease sets out that if the GTAA were to purchase or enter into an agreement to purchase any land adjacent to or in the
vicinity of the Airport for the purposes of managing, operating or maintaining the Airport, the GTAA shall transfer title of such land to
the Landlord and that such land shall become part of the Ground Lease.
Properties owned by the GTAA’s wholly-owned subsidiaries are not used for the purposes of managing, operating or maintaining the
Airport and therefore do not form part of the Ground Lease.
Ground rent is calculated as a percentage of Airport Revenue, as defined by the Ground Lease and related documents, using escalating
percentages with the following ranges: 0 per cent for Airport Revenue below $5.0 million, 1 per cent for Airport Revenue between
$5.0 million and $10.0 million, 5 per cent for Airport Revenue between $10.0 million and $25.0 million, 8 per cent for Airport Revenue
between $25.0 million and $100.0 million, 10 per cent for Airport Revenue between $100.0 million and $250.0 million, and 12 per cent
for Airport Revenue in excess of $250.0 million. The calculation of Airport Revenue is subject to audit by Transport Canada.
The Ground Lease has an initial term of 60 years expiring in 2056, with one renewal term of 20 years.
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2. Basis of Presentation
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued
by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IFRS”), and Interpretations of the International Financial Reporting Interpretations
Committee (“IFRIC”), which the Canadian Accounting Standards Board has approved for incorporation into Part I of the Handbook for
the Chartered Professional Accountants of Canada. These consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors
on March 26, 2020.
In applying the GTAA’s accounting policies, as described in Note 3, Significant Accounting Policies, management is required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amount of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates. Accounting estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that
period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. The areas involving
a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements, are disclosed in Note 5, Critical Accounting Judgements and Key Source of Estimation Uncertainty.

3. Significant Accounting Policies
The significant accounting policies used in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are described below.

Basis of Measurement
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going-concern basis under the historical cost convention, except for
the revaluation of certain financial assets and financial liabilities which are measured at fair value.

Principles of Consolidation
These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the GTAA consolidated with those of its wholly-owned and controlled
subsidiaries, Malton Gateway Inc. and Airway Centre Inc. Malton Gateway Inc. was incorporated in April 2017 and holds the shares
of Airway Centre Inc. Airway Centre Inc. was also incorporated in April 2017 to acquire and manage commercial properties that are
unrelated to the direct management, operation and maintenance of the Airport.
All inter-company transactions, balances, revenues and expenses have been eliminated on consolidation.

Segment Reporting
The GTAA consists of two operating segments; however, the second operating segment does not meet the quantitative thresholds to
be considered a reportable segment as defined by IFRS 8, Operating Segments.

Foreign Currency Translation
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the GTAA’s functional currency.
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of foreign currency transactions and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than the GTAA’s functional
currency are recognized in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income.

Cash
Cash includes cash on hand, deposits held with banks and other short-term, liquid investments with remaining terms to maturity of
three months or less.

Inventory
Inventory consists of natural gas and parts and supplies held for use at the Airport. Inventory is stated at the lower of cost and net
realizable value. Cost of natural gas is determined using the first-in, first-out method. Cost of parts and supplies is determined using
the weighted-average cost method. Net realizable value is determined as being the estimated replacement cost.
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Financial Instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are recognized when the GTAA becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument on
the trade date. Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the assets have expired or have been
transferred and the GTAA has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.
At initial recognition, the GTAA classifies its financial instruments in the following categories, depending on the purpose for which the
instruments were acquired:
(i)

(ii)

Amortized cost: A financial asset shall be measured at amortized cost if both of the following conditions are met:
(a)

the financial asset is held in order to collect contractual cash flows; and

(b)

the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Fair value through other comprehensive income: A financial asset shall be measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income if both of the following conditions are met:
(a)

the financial asset is held to collect contractual cash flows and selling financial assets; and

(b)

the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount.

(iii) Fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL”): A financial asset shall be measured at fair value through profit or loss unless it is
measured at amortized cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income.
(iv) Financial liabilities at amortized cost: Financial liabilities at amortized cost include accounts payable and accrued liabilities, security
deposits and long-term debt. These items are initially recognized at the amount required to be paid less, when material, a discount
to reduce the payables to fair value. Subsequently, these items are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest
method. Long-term debt is recognized initially at fair value, net of any transaction costs incurred and discounts/premiums, and
subsequently recorded at amortized cost using the effective interest method.
Financial liabilities are classified as current liabilities if payments are due within 12 months. Otherwise, they are presented as noncurrent liabilities in the consolidated statements of financial position.
At initial recognition, the GTAA measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at FVPL, transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of the financial assets carried at FVPL are
expensed in profit and loss. Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when determining whether
their cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest. Subsequent measurement of financial instruments depends on the
GTAA’s business model for managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the asset.
The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges is recognized in
other comprehensive income (loss). The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognized immediately in profit and loss.
As at December 31, 2019, the GTAA had no derivative instruments outstanding that have been designated as a hedge. However,
certain gains and losses relating to settled hedging instruments are being amortized to the consolidated statements of operations and
comprehensive income over the term to maturity of the previously hedged item (see Note 16, Financial Instruments).

Impairment of Financial Assets
The GTAA recognizes an allowance for expected credit losses for all financial assets not held at fair value through profit or loss. For
amounts receivable, the GTAA applies the simplified approach permitted by IFRS 9, which requires expected lifetime losses to be
recognized upon initial recognition of the receivables. To measure the expected credit losses, the GTAA has established a provision
matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience based on days past due, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the
customer and the economic environment. The GTAA considers a financial asset in default when contractual payment is over 90 days
past due. However, in certain cases, the GTAA may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or external information
indicates that it is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full.
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Property and equipment, intangibles and other assets and investment property are tested for impairment when events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value,
less costs to sell, and value in use (being the present value of the expected future cash flows of the relevant asset or cash-generating
unit). An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
The GTAA evaluates impairment by examining long-lived assets for impairment indicators and examines any prior period impairment
losses for potential reversals when events or circumstances warrant such consideration.

Leases
GTAA as a Lessee
The GTAA assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease at the inception of a contract. The GTAA recognizes a right-of-use asset
and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease agreements in which it is the lessee. The lease liability is initially measured
at the present value of the lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments) that are not paid at the commencement date,
discounted using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily determined, the GTAA uses its incremental borrowing rate
which is the rate that the GTAA would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-use
asset in a similar economic environment with similar terms, security and conditions.
The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing its carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability (using the effective
interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect lease payments made. The right-of-use asset is depreciated over the
shorter of the lease term and the useful life of the underlying asset.
Variable rents that do not depend on an index or rate such as the Ground Lease payments are not included in the measurement
of the lease liability and right-of-use asset. The related payments are recognized as an expense in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers those payments occurs and are presented as ground rent in the consolidated statements of operations and
comprehensive income (see Note 12, Leases).
Lease payments relating to short-term leases or leases of low-value assets are recognized as an expense on a straight-line basis over
the lease term, except where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the
leased asset are consumed.

GTAA as a Lessor
Lease income from operating leases where the GTAA is the lessor is recognized in income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Initial direct costs incurred in obtaining an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the underlying asset and recognized
as expense over the lease term on the same basis as lease income. The respective leased assets are included in the consolidated
statements of financial position based on their nature.
In arrangements where the GTAA sub-leases an asset to a third party, the GTAA classifies the sub-lease as a finance lease if it transfers
a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership of the right-of-use asset to the lessee. For finance sub-leases, the GTAA
derecognizes the right-of-use asset relating to the head lease, and recognizes a receivable at an amount equal to the net investment in
the sub-lease. The GTAA does not have any finance leases as a lessor.

Intangibles and Other Assets
As required under the terms of the Ground Lease, in certain instances, the title of land acquired is transferred to the federal
government, while the GTAA retains use of the land. The purchase price for acquired land is recorded as land acquisition costs in the
consolidated statements of financial position and amortized on a straight-line basis over the remaining term of the Ground Lease in
ground rent expense in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income.
Computer software costs are capitalized and amortized on a straight-line basis in amortization of intangible assets in the consolidated
statements of operations and comprehensive income over the period of their expected useful lives, which range from three to 10 years.
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Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are recorded at cost less accumulated amortization. Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable
to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-constructed assets includes the cost of materials, direct labour, any other costs directly
attributable to bringing the asset to a working condition for its intended use and borrowing costs.
These assets will revert to Transport Canada upon the expiration or termination of the Ground Lease. No amounts are amortized
longer than the lease term plus one renewal option.
Property and equipment are amortized at the following annual rates:
Buildings and structures (“Terminal and Airside assets”)

Straight-line over one to 60 years

Bridges and approach systems (“Terminal and Airside assets”)

Straight-line over five to 40 years

Baggage handling systems

Straight-line over 18 to 25 years

Improvements to leased land

Straight-line over the remaining term of the Ground Lease

Runways and taxiways (“Terminal and Airside assets”)

Straight-line over 10 to 40 years

Airport operating assets

Straight-line over two to 40 years

The GTAA allocates the amount initially recognized with respect to an item of property and equipment to its significant parts and
amortizes separately each such part. Residual values, method of amortization and useful lives of the assets are reviewed annually and
adjusted if appropriate.
Gains and losses on disposals of property and equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount of the
asset and are included as part of goods and services expense in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income.
Assets under construction are transferred to property and equipment when the asset is available for use, and amortization commences
at that time.

Borrowing Costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use, are added to the cost of those assets until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use. All other borrowing costs are recognized in interest and financing costs in the consolidated
statements of operations and comprehensive income in the period in which they are incurred.

Investment Property
Investment property is property held for capital appreciation and/or to earn rental income. Property is stated at historical cost
less accumulated amortization and any recognized impairment loss, with the exception of land, which is recorded at cost less any
accumulated impairment loss.
Amortization on investment property assets is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate an asset’s cost over its estimated
useful life. Amortization rates for each significant component range from three to 50 years.
The fair value of all investment property is estimated annually. In the year of acquisition, it is assumed that the cost approximates
fair value.
Investment property is derecognized either when it has been disposed of or when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefit is expected from its disposal. The difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset is recognized in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income in the period of
derecognition. Transfers are made to or from the investment property category only when there is a change in use.
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Payments-in-lieu of Real Property Taxes
The GTAA is exempt from the payment of real property taxes under the Assessment Act (Ontario), and instead makes payments-in-lieu
of real property taxes (“PILT”) to each of the cities of Mississauga and Toronto, as prescribed by regulation. The annual PILT is based on
actual passenger volumes in a prior year and is subject to a maximum annual increase under the Assessment Act. The properties held by
Airway Centre Inc. are not subject to PILT, and Airway Centre Inc. and its tenants pay municipal real property taxes in the ordinary course.

Revenue Recognition
The GTAA recognizes revenue when it transfers control over a product or service to a customer and revenue is measured at the
transaction price agreed under the contract. The GTAA does not currently have any contracts where the period between the transfer of
the promised goods or services to the customer and payment by the customer exceeds one year.
Landing fees and general terminal charges, net of adjustments, and car parking revenues are recognized as Airport facilities are
utilized. Airport Improvement Fees (“AIF”) are recognized upon the enplanement of the passenger. AIF revenue is remitted to the
GTAA based on airlines self-assessing their passenger counts. An annual reconciliation is performed by the GTAA with air carriers.
Concessions revenue and car rental revenue is earned on a monthly basis and is recognized based on a percentage of sales or
specified minimum rent guarantees. Ground transportation revenue is recognized based on a combination of the duration of the
term of the licences and permits, and utilization fees. Rentals revenue is recognized straight-line over the duration of the respective
agreements. Other revenue is mainly composed of deicing revenue which is recognized upon arrival of aircrafts.

Post-employment Benefit Obligations
The GTAA maintains defined benefit pension plans, defined contribution pension plans and other post-employment benefit plans for its
employees. The cost of defined contribution pension plans is charged to expense as they are earned by employees. The cost of defined
benefit plans and other post-employment benefit plans is determined using the projected unit credit method. The related pension
asset/liability recognized in the consolidated statements of financial position is the present value of the defined benefit obligation as
at the consolidated statements of financial position date less the fair value of plan assets. The present value of the defined benefit
obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using interest rates of high-quality corporate bonds that
have terms to maturity approximating the terms of the related pension liability. Actuarial valuations for defined benefit plans and other
post-employment benefit plans are carried out at each consolidated statement of financial position date.
Actuarial gains and losses are recognized in full in the period in which they occur, in other comprehensive income (loss) without
recycling to the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income in subsequent periods.
Past service costs are recognized in net income when incurred.
For funded plans, surpluses are recognized only to the extent that the surplus is considered recoverable. Recoverability is based
primarily on the extent to which the GTAA can unilaterally reduce future contributions to the plan.

Provisions
Provisions are recognized when the GTAA has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, when it is more
likely than not that the GTAA will be required to settle the obligation, and when a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation. Provisions are included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities.

Deferred Financing Costs
Deferred financing costs (except for line of credit fees that are recognized in the period in which they occur) and debt issuance
premiums or discounts are included in debt balances and recognized as an adjustment to interest expense over the life of the debt.
The GTAA uses the effective interest method to recognize bond interest expense.
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4. Changes in Accounting Policy and Disclosures
The GTAA has adopted the following new and/or revised standards effective January 1, 2019. These changes were made in accordance
with the applicable transitional provisions.

a) IFRS 16, Leases:
This standard was issued in January 2016 and sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure
of leases. This standard replaced IAS 17, Leases. The objective of the standard is to ensure that lessees and lessors provide relevant
information in a manner that faithfully represents those transactions. This information gives a basis for users of financial statements
to assess the effect that leases have on the financial position, financial performance and cash flows of the entity. The accounting for
lessors did not significantly change. IFRS 16 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019. The GTAA has applied
the definition of a lease in IFRS 16 to all contracts outstanding at the date of transition using the modified retrospective method, where
the comparative period is not restated. The GTAA has assessed the impact of the new standard on the Ground Lease. There is no impact
on the consolidated financial statements with respect to accounting for the Ground Lease under the new standard as lease payments
are contingent based on Airport Revenue, and therefore, the expense will continue to be recognized in the consolidated statements of
operations and comprehensive income on an accrual basis. The GTAA has also evaluated the impact of this standard with respect to other
leases and embedded leases and has concluded that there are no material other leases or embedded leases that require recognition on
adoption of this standard. The GTAA has evaluated the impact of this standard with respect to the sublease of land under the Ground
Lease and has concluded that there are no material subleases that require recognition on adoption of this standard.

b) Amendments to IAS 19, Employee Benefits:
This standard was amended to modify the guidance in connection with defined benefit plans and accounting for plan amendments,
settlements or curtailments. The amendments were effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019. The adoption of
these amendments did not have an impact on the consolidated financial statements.

c) Amendments to IAS 23, Borrowing Costs:
These amendments clarify that if a specific borrowing remains outstanding after the related qualifying asset is ready for its intended
use or sale, it becomes part of general borrowings. These amendments were applied prospectively for borrowing costs incurred on or
after the beginning of annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019. The adoption of these amendments did not have an impact
on the consolidated financial statements.

d) Amendments to IFRS 9, Financial Instruments:
This standard was amended to enable companies to measure at amortized cost some prepayable financial assets with negative
compensation. The assets affected, which include some loans and debt securities, would otherwise have been measured at FVPL.
Financial assets that would otherwise have contractual cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest, but do not meet
that condition only as a result of a prepayment feature with negative compensation, may be measured at amortized cost or at fair
value through other comprehensive income when eligibility conditions are met. These amendments to IFRS 9 also clarify how to
account for the modification of a financial liability. Most such modifications will result in immediate recognition of a gain or loss. The
amendments were effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019. The adoption of these amendments did not have
an impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Accounting Standards Issued but not yet Applied
a) A
 mendments to IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements and IAS 8, Accounting Policies, Changes in
Accounting Estimates and Errors:
These standards were amended to use a consistent definition of materiality throughout all accounting standards, clarify the
explanation of the definition of material and incorporate some of the guidance in IAS 1 about immaterial information. The
amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2020. The adoption of these amendments will not have a
significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.

b) Amendments to IFRS 3, Business Combinations:
This standard was amended to improve the definition of a business. The amendments will help companies determine whether an acquisition
made is of a business or a group of assets. To be considered a business, an acquisition would have to include an input and a substantive
process that together significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on
or after January 1, 2020. The adoption of these amendments will not have a significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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5. Critical Accounting Judgements and Key Source of Estimation Uncertainty
In applying the GTAA’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 3, Significant Accounting Policies, management is required to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amount of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to
be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
Accounting estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if
the revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies
The following are the critical judgements that management has made in the process of applying the GTAA’s accounting policies and
that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements.

Property and Equipment, Intangibles, Other Assets and Investment Property
Critical judgements are utilized in determining when an item of property and equipment, intangibles, other assets and investment
property are available for use as intended by management as well as in determining amortization rates and useful lives of these assets
and whether impairments are necessary.
Critical judgement is exercised in determining whether an acquisition of investment property or group of investment properties should
be accounted for as an asset acquisition or a business combination.

IFRIC 12, Service Concession Arrangements
Management has concluded that it does not fall within the scope of IFRIC 12, Service Concession Arrangements, given the current
structure of the GTAA’s arrangements with Transport Canada, whereby the GTAA is not controlled by a single government.

Leases
In some cases, the GTAA sub-leases land held under the Ground Lease to third parties. Management uses its judgement in determining
whether the sub-lease is a finance lease arrangement that transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership.

Key Source of Estimation Uncertainty
The following is a key assumption concerning the future, and key source of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period,
which has a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next fiscal year.

Post-employment Benefit Obligations
The GTAA accounts for pension and other post-retirement benefits through the use of actuarial valuations. These valuations rely on
statistical and other factors in order to anticipate future events. These factors include key actuarial assumptions, including discount
rates, expected salary increases and mortality rates. Actual results may differ from results that are estimated based on assumptions.
Additional information is disclosed in Note 13, Post-employment Benefit Obligations.

Airport Improvement Fees
AIF is recognized when departing passengers board the aircraft, using information from air carriers obtained after the boarding has
occurred. Therefore, management estimates AIF using information obtained from air carriers, if available, as well as its knowledge of
the market, economic conditions and historical experience.
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6. Restricted Funds
Restricted funds consist of certain funds, the use of which is directed by the Master Trust Indenture (“MTI”) dated December 2, 1997,
as supplemented or amended from time to time, or Medium-Term Note (“MTN”) offering documents, and which consist of the Debt
Service Fund and Debt Service Reserve Fund (the “Trust Funds”) and Operations, Capital and Financing Funds. These funds are invested
in cash or eligible short-term financial assets with less than one year to maturity as follows:
As at December 31

2019

2018

$

$

Debt Service Fund
Principal

8,121

7,629

Interest

60,706
68,827

52,979

36,912
40,171

36,943
40,204

38,967
35,821
38,249
38,869
22,887
32,114
18,398
12,376
–
8,336
6,949
12,435

38,649
35,139
38,742
38,912
22,598
31,944
18,178
12,146
2,293
8,181
–
–

4,890
347,374
416,201
(68,827)
347,374

4,199
328,128
388,736
(60,608)
328,128

60,608

Debt Service Reserve Funds
Revenue Bonds
Series 1997-3 due December 3, 2027
Series 1999-1 due July 30, 2029
Medium-Term Notes
Series 2000-1 due June 12, 2030
Series 2001-1 due June 4, 2031
Series 2002-3 due October 15, 2032
Series 2004-1 due February 2, 2034
Series 2010-1 due June 7, 2040
Series 2011-1 due February 25, 2041
Series 2011-2 due December 2, 2041
Series 2012-1 due September 21, 2022
Series 2016-1 due February 16, 2021
Series 2018-1 due June 1, 2037
Series 2019-1 due April 3, 2029
Series 2019-2 due October 17, 2039
Security for Bank Indebtedness
Series 1997–C Pledged Bond

Less: Current portion

As at December 31, restricted funds consisted of the following:

Cash
Guaranteed Investment Certificates
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2018

$
28,027
388,174
416,201

$
69,098
319,638
388,736
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Trust Funds
The GTAA is required to establish and maintain with the Trustee the Trust Funds in accordance with the terms of the MTI (see Note 11,
Credit Facilities, Long-Term Debt and Commercial Paper). The Trust Funds are held for the benefit of the bondholders and noteholders
for use and application by the Trustee in accordance with the terms of the MTI.

(a) Debt Service Fund (Principal and Interest)
Amounts in the Debt Service Fund are allocated to either a Principal Account or an Interest Account. Amounts in the Debt Service Fund
are disbursed by the Trustee to pay interest and principal as they become due. On a monthly basis, the GTAA is required to deposit into
the Principal Account an amount equal to one-twelfth of the total principal amount included in annual debt service, during the term,
for any bonds or notes due in such year. During 2019, the principal requirements of the Debt Service Fund were funded through cash
flows from operations. The fund balance as of December 31, 2019 was $8.1 million (December 31, 2018 – $7.6 million).
During 2019, principal of $18.3 million (December 31, 2018 – $27.6 million) was paid from the Principal Account of the Debt Service
Fund, and $18.8 million was deposited and/or allocated to the fund by the GTAA for the principal of the Series 1999-1 and MTNs
(December 31, 2018 – $21.1 million).
Also, on a monthly basis, the GTAA is required to deposit into the Interest Account an amount equal to one-sixth of the semi-annual
aggregate interest requirement due on all outstanding bonds and MTNs. The fund balance as of December 31, 2019 was $60.7 million
(December 31, 2018 – $53.0 million).

(b) Debt Service Reserve Funds
To the extent provided in any supplemental indenture, the GTAA is required to set aside funds in the Debt Service Reserve Fund for
each series of bond or MTNs. The required amount is established at the time of issue of each series of bond or MTNs and is funded
from the proceeds of each issue. Amounts held in the Debt Service Reserve Fund are held in trust for the benefit of the bondholders or
noteholders for use and application in accordance with the terms of the MTI.
At the maturity of each series of bond or MTNs, funds not applied by the Trustee will be returned to the GTAA.
Included among these Trust Funds is a Debt Service Reserve Fund related to the $1.9 billion pledged bond (Series 1997-C) securing the
credit facilities (see Note 11, Credit Facilities, Long-Term Debt and Commercial Paper).

Operations, Capital and Financing Funds
The GTAA has established an Operating and Maintenance Reserve Fund and a Renewal and Replacement Reserve Fund pursuant
to the MTI. The Operating and Maintenance Reserve Fund is calculated as one-sixth of the projected operating and maintenance
expenses estimated for the following fiscal year. As at December 31, 2019, this fund was secured by a letter of credit of $103.0 million
(December 31, 2018 – $93.0 million). This amount is to be used only for operating and maintenance expenses or other purposes as
required for the safe, ongoing operation and maintenance of the Airport as set out in the MTI. The Renewal and Replacement Reserve
Fund is also secured by a letter of credit of $3.0 million (December 31, 2018 – $3.0 million). This amount is to be used for unanticipated
repairs to, or the replacement of, property and equipment as set out in the MTI.

7. Accounts Receivable
As at December 31
Trade accounts receivable
Less: Allowance for doubtful accounts
Trade accounts receivable, net
Other receivables
Total accounts receivable

2019

2018

$
78,418
(765)
77,653
9,088
86,741

$
76,639
(589)
76,050
11,161
87,211

Included in trade accounts receivable and other receivables is $10.9 million due from Canadian Air Transportation Security Authority
(December 31, 2018 – $19.2 million) which is a related party. No provision has been made against these receivables.
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8. Intangibles And Other Assets
December 31, 2019
Cost
Land acquisition costs
Computer software
Clean Energy Supply Contract (“CES Contract”)

$
50,763
43,867
44,655
139,285

Accumulated
Amortization

Net Book
Value

$
(11,338)
(12,232)
(20,145)
(43,715)

$
39,425
31,635
24,510
95,570

December 31, 2018
Cost
Land acquisition costs
Computer software
Clean Energy Supply Contract (“CES Contract”)

$
50,763
23,931
44,655
119,349

Accumulated
Amortization

Net Book
Value

$
(10,270)
(7,778)
(16,116)
(34,164)

$
40,493
16,153
28,539
85,185

The aggregate amortization expense with respect to land acquisition costs for 2019 was $1.1 million (2018 – $1.1 million) and is
included in ground rent expense in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income.
A reconciliation of the carrying amount of intangible asset costs is as follows:
Land
Acquisition
Costs

Computer
Software

Total

Balance, December 31, 2019

$
40,493
–
(1,068)
39,425

$
16,153
19,936
(4,454)
31,635

$
56,646
19,936
(5,522)
71,060

Balance, January 1, 2018

41,560

4,081

45,641

Additions

–
(1,067)
40,493

13,298
(1,226)
16,153

13,298
(2,293)
56,646

Balance, January 1, 2019
Additions
Amortization expense

Amortization expense
Balance, December 31, 2018

On February 1, 2006, the GTAA entered into the CES Contract with Independent Electricity System Operator (“IESO”) (formerly, the
Ontario Power Authority), pursuant to which the GTAA is obligated to have 90 MW of electrical energy available to the Ontario power
grid. The term of the CES Contract is for 20 years, subject to early termination rights available to the GTAA. The contract allows for
payments by either party, depending on whether net electricity market revenues that the GTAA is deemed to have earned are greater
or less than a predetermined threshold, as defined in the CES Contract.
The carrying value of the CES Contract, which was evaluated at $44.7 million, is being amortized on a straight-line basis over the remaining
term of the contract. The amortization expense with respect to the CES Contract value for 2019 was $4.0 million (2018 – $4.0 million) and
is included in the goods and services expense in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income.
The GTAA also recorded a deferred credit of $44.0 million, which is being amortized on a straight-line basis, over the term of 20 years.
The unamortized balance at December 31, 2019 was $13.4 million (December 31, 2018 – $15.6 million). During 2019, the reduction of
the unamortized liability of $2.2 million (December 31, 2018 – $2.2 million) was recorded as a reduction to goods and services expense
in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income.
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9. Property And Equipment
Property and equipment are composed of:

Terminal and
Airside Assets

Baggage
Handling
Systems

Improvements
to Leased
Land

Runways
and
Taxiways

Airport
Operating
Assets

Assets Under
Construction

Total

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

6,558,848
273
(485)
149,363
6,707,999

396,807
–
–
7,307
404,114

9,480
–
–
–
9,480

537,798
–
–
4,381
542,179

753,877
–
(6,824)
58,351
805,404

387,545
370,481
–
(219,402)
538,624

8,644,355
370,754
(7,309)
–
9,007,800

2,490,796
183,600
(200)
(119)
2,674,077
4,033,922

200,022
15,339
–
–
215,361
188,753

3,484
158
–
–
3,642
5,838

212,826
19,725
–
–
232,551
309,628

427,949
58,528
(6,503)
119
480,093
325,311

–
–
–
–
–
538,624

3,335,077
277,350
(6,703)
–
3,605,724
5,402,076

Terminal and
Airside Assets

Baggage
Handling
Systems

Improvements
to Leased
Land

Runways
and
Taxiways

Airport
Operating Assets

Assets Under
Construction

Total

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

6,465,969
460
(378)
92,797
6,558,848

375,159
–
–
21,648
396,807

9,480
–
–
–
9,480

519,113
–
–
18,685
537,798

703,057
–
(1,892)
52,712
753,877

183,364
390,023
–
(185,842)
387,545

8,256,142
390,483
(2,270)
–
8,644,355

2,313,999
176,546
–
251
2,490,796
4,068,052

185,674
14,348
–
–
200,022
196,785

3,326
158
–
–
3,484
5,996

193,726
19,100
–
–
212,826
324,972

371,654
58,396
(1,850)
(251)
427,949
325,928

–
–
–
–
–
387,545

3,068,379
268,548
(1,850)
–
3,335,077
5,309,278

Cost
Balance, beginning of year
Additions
Disposals
Transfers
Balance, end of year
Accumulated amortization
Balance, beginning of year
Amortization expense
Disposals
Transfers
Balance, end of year
Net book value, end of year

Cost
Balance, beginning of year
Additions
Disposals
Transfers
Balance, end of year
Accumulated amortization
Balance, beginning of year
Amortization expense
Disposals
Transfers
Balance, end of year
Net book value, end of year

As at December 31, 2019, $538.6 million (December 31, 2018 – $387.5 million) of property and equipment was under construction
and not yet subject to amortization. Included in this amount is $15.5 million (December 31, 2018 – $6.5 million) of capitalized interest.
During the year, borrowing costs were capitalized at the rate of 4.9 per cent, which represents the weighted-average rate of the GTAA’s
general borrowings (2018 – 5.0 per cent).
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10. Investment Property
As at December 31

2019

2018

$

$

493,320
6,644
499,964

314,968
178,352
493,320

17,619
9,017
26,636
473,328

10,419
7,200
17,619
475,701

Cost
Balance, beginning of year
Additions
Balance, end of year
Accumulated amortization
Balance, beginning of year
Amortization expense
Balance, end of year
Net book value, end of year

Investment property consists of a flight simulator facility and commercial properties (land and buildings) owned by the GTAA and its
controlled subsidiaries. These properties are leased to third parties.
There were no commercial property acquisitions by Airway Centre Inc. in the year (December 31, 2018 – $178.4 million). Office space and
building improvements during the year were $6.6 million. These commercial properties are subject to municipal real property taxes.
The total fair value of all commercial properties, based on an independent valuation, was $500.3 million as at December 31, 2019
(December 31, 2018 – $486.6 million). The fair values are within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.
For the year ended December 31, 2019, the commercial properties generated $31.4 million (December 31, 2018 – $26.2 million) in
rental revenue and incurred $23.7 million (December 31, 2018 – $18.0 million) in direct operating expenses.

11. Credit Facilities, Long-Term Debt and Commercial Paper
As at December 31, long-term debt and commercial paper (“CP”), net of unamortized discounts and premiums and accrued interest,
consisted of:

Series

Coupon
Rate

Maturity Date

Revenue Bonds
1997-3
1999-1

6.45%
6.45%

December 3, 2027
July 30, 2029

7.05%
7.10%
6.98%
6.47%
5.63%
5.30%
4.53%
3.04%
1.51%
3.26%
2.73%
2.75%

June 12, 2030
June 4, 2031
October 15, 2032
February 2, 2034
June 7, 2040
February 25, 2041
December 2, 2041
September 21, 2022
February 16, 2021
June 1, 2037
April 3, 2029
October 17, 2039

Principal
Amount

2019

2018

$
321,500
261,661

$
320,466
267,450

$
320,239
286,009

527,244
491,348
475,452
577,674
398,893
607,537
398,653
390,552
–
497,838
500,536
898,066
6,351,709
59,978
6,411,687
(141,826)
6,269,861

527,195
491,189
475,464
577,503
398,845
607,476
398,595
390,321
300,922
497,704
–

Medium-Term Notes
2000-1
2001-1
2002-3
2004-1
2010-1
2011-1
2011-2
2012-1
2016-1
2018-1
2019-1
2019-2
Commercial paper
Less: Current portion (including accrued interest)
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526,550
492,150
468,960
567,428
400,000
600,000
400,000
388,000
300,000
500,000
500,000
900,000
6,626,249
60,000

–
5,271,462
1,098,793
6,370,255
(1,173,246)
5,197,009
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As at December 31, 2019, accrued interest included in the current portion of the long-term debt was $62.4 million (December 31,
2018 – $56.2 million).
On April 3, 2019, the GTAA issued $500.0 million Series 2019-1 MTNs due April 3, 2029 at a coupon rate of 2.73 per cent for net
proceeds of $497.9 million. The net proceeds partially reduced the outstanding balance of CP.
On September 25, 2019, the GTAA exercised its right to redeem all $300.0 million of the outstanding Series 2016-1 MTNs on October 25,
2019 (the “redemption date”). The Series 2016-1 MTNs had an original maturity date of February 21, 2021. To refinance the redemption
of the Series 2016-1 MTNs, the GTAA issued on October 17, 2019 $900.0 million Series 2019-2 MTNs due October 17, 2039 at a coupon
rate of 2.75 per cent for net proceeds of $894.3 million. The remaining proceeds of this issuance were used to partially pay down
outstanding CP.
As at December 31, interest and financing costs, net, consisted of the following:
2019

$
11,858
(315,298)
15,737
–
–
(4,030)
(3,556)
(307,147)
(295,289)

Interest income
Interest expense on debt instruments
Capitalized interest
Early retirement of debt charge
Loss on cash flow hedge
Amortization of terminated hedges and interest rate swap
Other financing fees
Interest and financing costs, net

2018

$
8,021
(307,999)
7,708
(28,698)
(2,686)
(2,454)

(3,831)
(337,960)
(329,939)

With the exception of Series 1999-1 revenue bonds, principal on each series of revenue bond and MTNs is payable on the maturity
date. Series 1999-1 are amortizing revenue bonds repayable in scheduled annual instalments of principal, payable on July 30 of each
year. These payments commenced July 30, 2004 and will continue until maturity in 2029.
Set out below is a comparison of the amounts that would be reported if long-term debt amounts were reported at fair values. Fair
values were based on quoted market rates for GTAA bonds as at the date of the consolidated statements of financial position. The fair
values are within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.
December 31, 2019
($ millions)
Long-term debt

December 31, 2018

Book Value

Fair Value

Book Value

Fair Value

$
6,351,709

$
7,882,290

$
5,271,462

$
6,438,438

All notes are redeemable in whole or in part at the option of the GTAA at any time at a redemption price that is the greater of (i) the
face value amount plus accrued and unpaid interest and (ii) the price based on yields over Government of Canada bonds with similar
terms to maturity.
There are no material non-cash changes affecting liabilities from financing activities.

Credit Facilities
As part of its liquidity management program, the GTAA maintains the following credit facilities: a revolving operating credit facility in
an amount of $1.4 billion, a letter of credit facility in the amount of $150.0 million and an interest rate and foreign exchange hedging
facility in the amount of $150.0 million. These credit facilities are secured by a $1.9 billion pledged bond (Series 1997-C) issued pursuant
to the MTI. Indebtedness under the credit facilities ranks pari passu with other indebtedness issued under the MTI. The $1.4 billion
revolving operating credit facility matures on May 22, 2022 and the $150.0 million letter of credit facility matures on May 22, 2020. Each
of the credit facilities can be extended annually for one additional year with the lender’s consent.
As at December 31, 2019, no amounts were utilized on the $1.4 billion revolving operating credit facility (December 31, 2018 – $nil). As
at December 31, 2019, $109.2 million was utilized on the $150.0 million letter of credit facility (December 31, 2018 – $99.2 million). As at
December 31, 2019, $nil was secured on the $150.0 million interest rate and foreign exchange hedging facility (December 31, 2018 – $nil).
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12. Leases
Ground Lease
The GTAA’s commitment with respect to annual ground lease is based on a set percentage of the GTAA’s revenues (see “Airport Subject
to Ground Lease” in Note 1, General Information). Ground rent expense in 2019 was $169.7 million (2018 – $164.2 million) excluding
amortization of land acquisition costs (see Note 8, Intangibles and Other Assets).

Other Leases as a Lessor
The GTAA leases under operating leases, land and certain assets that are included in property and equipment and investment property
to various third parties. Many leases include renewal options, in which case they are subject to market price revision. The lessees do
not have the ability to acquire the leased assets at the end of the lease.
Income from subleasing land in the year was $28.9 million (2018 – $26.0 million).
Variable payments form part of certain lease agreements. Total variable payments recognized in the consolidated statements of
operations and comprehensive income for 2019 was $64.6 million (2018 – $62.0 million).
Future minimum lease receipts (excluding variable payments) from non-cancellable leases are as follows:
2020

2021

2022

2023

2024

Thereafter

December 31, 2019

$
195,245

$
174,898

$
105,974

$
63,729

$
39,951

$
322,555

December 31, 2018

163,666

146,095

128,604

81,949

52,242

204,655

($ millions)

13. Post-Employment Benefit Obligations
Defined Benefit Pension Plans
The GTAA maintains two pension plans with defined benefit provisions. One of these plans is a registered pension plan for former
Transport Canada employees who were eligible to elect to transfer their pension credits to the GTAA plan. The other defined benefit
pension plan is a registered pension plan for certain retired senior executives of the GTAA. Both plans do not accept new members.
The GTAA measures its accrued benefit obligations and the fair value of plan assets for both of its defined benefit pension plans for
accounting purposes as at December 31 of each year. The most recent actuarial valuation of the pension plans for funding purposes
was as of January 1, 2019, and the next required valuation is as of January 1, 2020.

a) Characteristics of the Plans
Benefit obligations are estimated using the projected unit credit method. Under this method, each participant’s benefits under the
plans are attributed to years of service, taking into consideration future salary increases (as applicable) and the plan’s benefit allocation
formula. The GTAA’s net obligation is calculated separately for each plan and is determined as the benefit obligation less the fair value
of plan assets.
When the above calculations result in a benefit to the GTAA, the recognized asset is limited to the net total of the present value of
any economic benefits available in the form of any refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan. In order to
calculate the present value of economic benefits, consideration is given to any minimum funding requirements that apply to the plans.
The plans are final average earnings pension plans, which provide benefits to members in the form of a guaranteed level of pension
payable for life. The level of benefits provided depends on members’ length of service and their salary in the final years leading up to
retirement. In the registered plan and for one supplemental plan member, pensions paid are indexed with inflation.
The weighted-average duration of the defined benefit plans is 14.6 years.
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b) Risks Associated with the Plans
The nature of these benefits exposes the GTAA to a number of risks, the most significant of which are as follows:
(i) Asset Volatility
The plan liabilities are calculated using a discount rate set with reference to corporate bond yields. If plan assets underperform the
discount rate, this will create a deficit under the plan. The pension plans currently invest approximately 61 per cent in equities, which
may outperform corporate bonds in the long term, but may contribute to volatility in valuation and risk in the short term.
(ii) Changes in Bond Yields
A decrease in corporate bond yields will increase plan liabilities, although this will be partially offset by an increase in the value of the
pension plan’s assets invested in fixed income.
(iii) Inflation Risk
The majority of the defined benefit plans’ obligations are linked to inflation, with higher inflation leading to higher liabilities. The
majority of the plan’s assets may have some correlation with inflation and, as such, an increase in inflation may reduce any surplus
and/or increase any deficit.
(iv) Life Expectancy
The majority of the plans’ obligations are to provide benefits for the lifetime of the member, so increases in life expectancy will result in
an increase in the plans’ liabilities, with the exception of life insurance liabilities.

c) Amounts Recognized in the Financial Statements
The amounts recognized in the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31 are determined as follows:
2019
Present value of funded obligation
Fair value of plan assets
Funded status – surplus
Net defined benefit asset

$
(203,065)
263,498
60,433
60,433

2018

$
(183,190)
235,901

52,711
52,711

The combined movement in the two defined benefit pension plans as at December 31 is as follows:
2019

2018

$

$

Accrued benefit obligation
Balance, beginning of year
Current service cost
Interest cost
Benefits paid
Employee contributions

183,190
2,092
6,798
(7,884)
388

186,682
2,503
6,557
(6,758)
420

17,999
482
203,065

(5,068)
(1,146)
183,190

235,901
8,807
24,693
1,846
388
(7,884)
(253)
263,498
60,433

250,817
8,914
(18,602)
1,378
420
(6,758)
(268)
235,901
52,711

Remeasurements:
Loss (gain) from changes in financial assumptions
Experience loss (gain)
Balance, end of year
Plan assets
Fair value, beginning of year
Interest income
Return on plan assets, excluding amounts included in interest income
Employer contributions
Employee contributions
Benefits paid
Administrative expenses paid from plan assets
Fair value, end of year
Funded status – surplus
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As at December 31, 2019, each of the GTAA’s defined benefit pension plans was in a surplus position. One plan was in a surplus
position of $59.3 million (2018 – $51.2 million), with an accrued obligation of $186.3 million (2018 – $167.0 million) and a fair value of
plan assets of $245.6 million (2018 – $218.2 million). The other plan was in a surplus position of $1.1 million (2018 – $1.5 million), with
an accrued obligation of $16.7 million (2018 – $16.2 million) and a fair value of plan assets of $17.8 million (2018 – $17.7 million).
The GTAA’s net defined benefit pension plan expense for the year ended December 31 is as follows:

Current service cost
Interest cost
Interest income
Administrative expenses
Defined benefit pension plan expense recognized in net income

2019

2018

$
2,092
6,798
(8,807)
342
425

$
2,503
6,557
(8,914)
342
488

17,999
482
(24,782)
(6,301)

(5,068)
(1,146)
18,528
12,314

Amounts recognized in other comprehensive income (loss):
Loss (gain) from changes in financial assumptions
Experience loss (gain)
Return on plan assets
Total remeasurements recognized in accumulated other comprehensive loss

A reconciliation of the net defined benefit asset as at December 31 is as follows:
2019
Net defined benefit asset, beginning of year
Defined benefit cost included in net income
Total remeasurements included in other comprehensive income (loss)
Employer contributions
Net defined benefit asset, end of year

$
52,711
(425)
6,301
1,846
60,433

2018

$
64,135
(488)
(12,314)
1,378
52,711

The accrued benefit obligation by participant status as at December 31 is as follows:

Active members
Vested deferreds
Retirees
Accrued benefit obligation

2019

2018

$
66,009
10,129
126,927
203,065

$
59,095
6,694
117,401
183,190

The GTAA’s plan assets consist of the following as at December 31:
Fair Value of Plan Assets
Asset Category

2019

2018

Equity securities

61%
39%

58%
42%

Fixed income

The fair values of equity and fixed income plan assets are based on quoted market prices in active markets.
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d) Significant Actuarial Assumptions
The significant actuarial assumptions used in measuring the GTAA’s accrued defined benefit pension plan obligations are as follows
(weighted-average assumptions as at December 31:

Discount rate
Rate of compensation increase
Rate of price inflation
Rate of pension increases

2019

2018

%
3.09
3.00
2.00
2.00

%
3.79
3.00
2.00
2.00

Mortality rates have been established in accordance with the Canadian Pensioners’ Mortality Table Private Sector published by the
Canadian Institute of Actuaries.

e) Future Cash Flows
The sensitivity of the post-employment benefit obligation to changes in the weighted-average significant actuarial assumptions as at
December 31, 2019 would be as follows:
Change in
Assumption
Discount rate
Rate of price inflation
Mortality

1.00%
1.00%
1 year

Increase in
Assumption

$
(24,937)
27,569
7,906

Decrease in
Assumption

$
30,892
(23,401)
(8,003)

The above sensitivity analyses are based on a change in an assumption while holding all other assumptions constant. In practice, this
is unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the assumptions may be correlated. When calculating the sensitivity of the obligation to
significant actuarial assumptions, the same method (present value of the obligation calculated with the projected unit credit method
at the end of the reporting period) has been applied as when calculating the liability recognized in the consolidated statements of
financial position.
The methods and types of assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity analysis did not change compared to the previous period.
As at January 1, 2019, the registered defined benefit plan had a funding valuation solvency surplus of $2.1 million. The supplementary
defined benefit plan had a solvency deficit of $0.3 million as at January 1, 2019. The GTAA has fully funded this deficit.
Expected contributions, benefit payments and administrative expenses for both defined benefit pension plans for the year ended
December 31, 2020 are $1.9 million, $8.2 million and $0.3 million, respectively.

Defined Contribution Pension Plan Expense
The GTAA maintains four pension plans with defined contribution provisions providing pension benefits to employees who commenced
working for the GTAA after December 1996 as well as those former Transport Canada employees who elected to transfer their pension
credits to the GTAA plan. The net expense for the defined contribution pension plans in 2019 was $5.9 million (2018 – $4.6 million).
The GTAA’s contribution to the registered defined contribution pension plans is a maximum of 6.5 per cent of the employee’s gross
earnings. For designated employees of one unfunded supplemental plan, the GTAA’s notional contribution equals 16 per cent of the
employee’s gross earnings less amounts already contributed to the plan by the employee and the GTAA. Recorded in post-employment
benefit liabilities on the consolidated statements of financial position is the estimated obligation for this plan at December 31, 2019 of
$3.3 million (December 31, 2018 – $2.0 million).

Severance Entitlement Plan
The GTAA has a severance entitlement plan for certain employees under the terms of their collective bargaining agreement. The
plan provides a payment upon retirement, resignation, termination or death to eligible employees or their beneficiaries based on
years of service and vesting restrictions. The GTAA records the cost of this obligation based on an independent actuarial valuation
updated annually.
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Since the GTAA’s accrued severance entitlement plan is unfunded, the net obligation is equal to the sum of the benefit obligations
for all the members under this plan. As at December 31, 2019, the balance of the accrued benefit obligation was $2.8 million (2018 –
$2.4 million), the post-employment benefit expense recognized in net income for the year ended December 31, 2019 was $0.2 million
(2018 – $0.2 million) and the pension remeasurements gain recognized in other comprehensive income (loss) was $0.2 million (2018 –
$0.05 million).

Other Employee Future Benefits
Certain employees are provided with paid-up life insurance at the time of retirement. At December 31, 2019, the estimated obligation
for this payment is $3.0 million (December 31, 2018 – $2.7 million) and is included in post-employment benefit liabilities in the
consolidated statements of financial position.

14. Related Party Transactions
Related Parties
As a corporation without share capital, the GTAA has Members rather than shareholders. The Members of the GTAA are also its
directors. The GTAA is governed by a 15-member Board of Directors. Seven Directors are elected by the Members from candidates
who are identified and assessed through a search process. Five Directors are elected by the Members from candidates nominated by
the following municipalities: the regional municipalities of York, Halton, Peel and Durham, and the City of Toronto. Two Directors are
elected by the Members from nominees of the Government of Canada and one Director is elected by the Members from a nominee of
the Province of Ontario.
As a result of the ability of the Government of Canada to nominate Members, this government and its respective government-related
entities are considered related parties for accounting purposes only.
The GTAA has applied the exemption for government-related entities to disclose only significant transactions. See Note 7, Accounts
Receivable, for amounts due from Canadian Air Transportation Security Authority.

Compensation of Key Management and Directors
The GTAA’s related parties also includes Key Management personnel. Key Management includes the CEO, the CFO and the Vice
Presidents who have the authorities and responsibilities for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the GTAA. The GTAA’s
Board of Directors collectively oversee the management and operation of the Airport. The Board of Directors are, only for the purposes
hereof, also considered Key Management, although all are independent of management.
The following table includes compensation to Key Management personnel and members of the Board of Directors for the years ended
December 31 included in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income.

Salaries, fees and short-term benefits
Post-employment benefits
Other long-term benefits
Total (included in salaries, wages and benefits)

2019

2018

$
9,283
828
16
10,127

$
8,319
781
25
9,125

15. Commitments and Contingent Liabilities
Capital Commitments
In connection with the operation and development of the Airport, the GTAA had capital commitments outstanding at December 31,
2019 and subsequent to the year-end of approximately $297.7 million, as compared to $327.8 million at December 31, 2018.

Letters of Credit
A number of letters of credit for $109.2 million in total were outstanding as at December 31, 2019 (see Note 11, Credit Facilities, LongTerm Debt and Commercial Paper).
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Cogeneration Plant
The GTAA has entered into certain contracts in order to secure the supply and delivery of natural gas necessary for anticipated future
operations of the Cogeneration Plant. Under these contracts, the GTAA will be required to make payments relating to both the delivery
of natural gas based on standard rate agreements and the cost of natural gas as determined by market rates. The GTAA has also
entered into a delivery contract that establishes a maximum volume of natural gas inventory that the GTAA is permitted to maintain,
as of November 30 of each year. The GTAA has the option to dispose of natural gas in excess of this maximum volume either through
consumption or through the sale of natural gas to third parties.

Contingent Liabilities
The GTAA is subject to legal proceedings and claims from time to time that arise in the normal course of business. Where appropriate,
the GTAA has recorded provisions while it actively pursues its position. Where it is the opinion of management that the ultimate
outcome of these matters will not result in a probable outflow of cash, no provisions have been recorded.

16. Financial Instruments
Fair Value Hierarchy
Fair value measurements recognized in the consolidated statements of financial position must be categorized in accordance with the
following levels:
a) Level 1 – Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
b) L
 evel 2 – Observable inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 such as quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in
active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar assets and liabilities in markets that are not active, or other inputs that are
observable or can be corroborated by observable market data; or
c) Level 3 – Significant unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity.
Financial instruments that are not measured at fair value in the consolidated statements of financial position are represented by
accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, security deposits, long-term debt and CP. The fair values of these
items, excluding long-term debt, approximate their carrying values due to their short-term nature. The fair value of long-term debt is
disclosed in Note 11, Credit Facilities, Long-Term Debt and Commercial Paper.
Restricted funds are categorized as Level 2 as the GTAA uses observable inputs such as yield curves applicable to identical assets to fair
value this group.
There were no transfers of financial instruments between the levels during the year.

Risk Management
In the normal course of business, the GTAA is exposed to a number of financial risks that can affect its operating performance. The
GTAA’s overall financial risk management program seeks to minimize potential adverse effects on the GTAA’s financial performance.
The GTAA’s treasury function is responsible for the procurement of the GTAA’s capital resources and for the management of financial
risk. All treasury operations are conducted within policies and guidelines approved by the Board of Directors and are within the
requirements set out in the MTI. Compliance with these policies is monitored by the regular reporting of treasury activities to the Audit
Committee of the Board. The GTAA’s operating activities result in financial risks that may arise from changes in market risk, credit risk
and liquidity risk.

Market Risk
a) Interest Rate Risk
The GTAA’s exposure to interest rate risk relates to its MTNs and short-term borrowing as described in Note 11, Credit Facilities, LongTerm Debt and Commercial Paper. As at December 31, 2019, all of the GTAA’s MTNs are fixed-rate carried liabilities and, therefore,
changes in interest rates do not have an impact on interest payments but may have an impact on the fair value of this debt. The
borrowings under the CP program and credit facilities will fluctuate in accordance with changes in interest rates.
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The GTAA also has exposure to interest rate risk through its short-term investments in restricted funds (see Note 6, Restricted Funds)
and other borrowings (see Note 11, Credit Facilities, Long-Term Debt and Commercial Paper). As at December 31, 2019, $388.2 million
of the GTAA’s short-term investment holdings carried various terms to maturity from one to 365 days. Therefore, changes in the
interest rate would not have a significant impact on the fair value of restricted funds due to the short-term nature of the investments.
The remaining funds were invested in savings accounts that are highly liquid, and therefore the principal balances were protected
regardless of changes in interest rates.
The minimum balance of the Debt Service Reserve Fund is adjusted annually on March 23, based on the prevailing Bankers’
Acceptance rate.

b) Foreign Currency Rate Risk
The GTAA undertakes certain transactions denominated in foreign currencies, primarily the U.S. dollar. However, the GTAA’s exposure
to any foreign currency risk is not significant.

Credit Risk
The GTAA is subject to credit risk through its financial assets. The GTAA performs ongoing credit valuations of these balances and
maintains valuation allowances for potential credit loss.
Before accepting a new air carrier, the GTAA uses an external credit scoring system to assess the potential customer’s credit quality,
as well as an internal credit rating system. All customers are subject to credit checks and require prepayment or a deposit in the form
of cash, a letter of credit or a letter of guarantee. Operational and credit-related reviews for aeronautical customers are seasonally
reviewed for adequacy. Should the requirements for security deposits change, new payment terms or deposit requirements will be
established. A security deposit is required for most non-aeronautical customers as well. Credit checks for these latter customers are
performed at the time of the agreement negotiations, renewals and amendments.
The credit quality of financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired can be assessed by reference to external credit ratings
(if available) or to historical information about the customer or institution holding the funds.
As at December 31

2019

2018

$

$

30,249

22,530

365,689
50,512
416,201

281,336
107,400
388,736

Cash
AA
Restricted funds
AA
AA low

None of the financial assets that are fully performing have been renegotiated during the year.
The GTAA invests its restricted funds in highly rated investment instruments with low risk profiles according to the guidelines specified
in the MTI. The MTI requires that the GTAA invest its restricted funds with financial institutions with investment grade rates of AA or
higher. Due to a credit rating upgrade of several Canadian banks in 2018, the GTAA’s investment options in its restricted funds were
increased to six qualifying banks. The GTAA also has the ability to invest in highly rated government investment instruments.
There is a concentration of service with two air carriers that represent approximately 45.4 per cent (2018 – 47.3 per cent) of total
revenue, and 9.1 per cent (2018 – 20.3 per cent) of the accounts receivable balance, excluding prepayments and/or deposits on hand,
at December 31, 2019.
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Liquidity Risk
The GTAA manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash, restricted funds and available credit facilities. Quarterly cash flow
projections are prepared by management and reviewed by the Audit Committee to ensure a sufficient continuity of funding. To
maintain a flexible program, debt maturities are spread over a range of dates, thereby ensuring that the GTAA is not exposed to
excessive refinancing risk in any one year or any period within one year.
The GTAA maintains credit facilities and a CP program and executes a Capital Markets Platform to meet cash needs as debt maturities
occur (see Note 11, Credit Facilities, Long-Term Debt and Commercial Paper, and Note 20, Capital Risk Management). The GTAA
mitigates risk related to liquidity in the CP program via the credit facilities available under its lines of credit.
The table below analyzes the GTAA’s financial liabilities by relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the date of the
consolidated statements of financial position to the contractual maturity date. It does not include pension and post-retirement benefit
obligations, as maturities are variable based on timing of individuals leaving the plan. The table has been prepared based on the
contractual undiscounted cash flows based on the earliest date on which the GTAA can be required to pay. It includes both principal
and interest cash flows.
December 31, 2019

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Commercial paper
Long-term debt

Less Than
1 Month

1 Month to
12 Months

1 Year to
5 Years

Thereafter

$
63,831
59,978
8,439
132,248

$
224,118
–
329,057
553,175

$
–
–
2,040,092
2,040,092

$
–
–
8,454,823
8,454,823

Less Than
1 Month

1 Month to
12 Months

1 Year to
5 Years

Thereafter

$
74,395
599,570
9,027
682,992

$
258,859
499,223
294,598
1,052,680

$
–
–
2,166,683
2,166,683

$
–
–
6,947,848
6,947,848

December 31, 2018

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Commercial paper
Long-term debt

Additional disclosure about the GTAA’s credit facilities and long-term debt can be found in Note 11, Credit Facilities, Long-Term Debt
and Commercial Paper, and Note 8, Intangibles and Other Assets.
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Offsetting of Financial Instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are offset, and the net amount reported in the consolidated statements of financial position where the
GTAA currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or
realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. In the normal course of business, the GTAA enters into various arrangements
that do not meet the criteria for offsetting in the consolidated statements of financial position but still allow for the related amounts to
be set off in certain circumstances, such as bankruptcy or the termination of the contracts.
The following table presents the financial instruments which may be subject to enforceable master netting arrangements or other
similar agreements but not offset, as at December 31, 2019 and 2018, and shows in the “Net Amount” column what the net impact
would be on the GTAA’s consolidated statements of financial position if all set-off rights were exercised in circumstances described
above. As at December 31, 2019, no recognized financial instruments are offset in the consolidated statements of financial position.
December 31, 2019
Gross Amount
Presented
in the
Consolidated
Statements
of Financial
Position

Related
Accounts Not
Set Off in the
Consolidated
Statements
of Financial
Position

Net Amount

$

$

$

Financial assets
Accounts receivable
Restricted funds

86,741
416,201
502,942

(32,289)
(411,311)
(443,600)

54,452
4,890
59,342

Financial liabilities
Security deposits
Long-term debt

(32,289)
(6,351,709)
(6,383,998)

32,289
411,311
443,600

–
(5,940,398)
(5,940,398)

December 31, 2018
Gross Amount
Presented
in the
Consolidated
Statements
of Financial
Position

Related
Accounts Not
Set Off in the
Consolidated
Statements
of Financial
Position

Net Amount

$

$

$

Financial assets
Accounts receivable
Restricted funds

87,211
388,736
475,947

(33,644)
(384,537)
(418,181)

53,567
4,199
57,766

Financial liabilities
Security deposits
Long-term debt
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(33,644)
(5,271,462)
(5,305,106)

33,644
384,537
418,181

–
(4,886,925)
(4,886,925)
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17. Revenue
During the year, the GTAA recognized $1.3 billion (2018 – $1.2 billion) from contracts with customers and $247.0 million (2018 –
$226.2 million) of revenue was recognized under IFRS 16, Leases.
Deferred revenue was $51.2 million as at December 31, 2018, which was fully recognized in the consolidated statement of operations
and comprehensive income in 2019. $52.3 million of cash was received during the year that related to performance obligations yet to
be satisfied resulting in a deferred revenue balance of $52.3 million as at December 31, 2019.

18. Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities
As at December 31
Trade payables
Accrued expenses
Commodity sales tax payable
Provisions
Other liabilities

2019

2018

$
58,211
219,787
3,021
1,943
4,987
287,949

$
65,182
247,778
5,134
8,218
6,942

2019

2018

$
100,619
131,717
21,165
40,306
36,312
17,923
36,825
384,867

$
94,983
127,404
21,909
37,942
25,073
18,399
31,684
357,394

333,254

19. Goods and Services Expense by Nature
Years ended December 31
Property and equipment maintenance and repairs
Outsourcing and professional services
Utilities
Policing and security
Snow removal
AIF administration fee
Other

20. Capital Risk Management
The GTAA defines its capital as current and long-term portions of debt, borrowings under the CP program, borrowings, if any, under
the GTAA’s credit facilities (see Note 11, Credit Facilities, Long-Term Debt and Commercial Paper), cash and restricted funds (see Note 6,
Restricted Funds).
The GTAA’s objectives when managing capital are to:
a) M
 aintain a capital structure and an appropriate credit rating that provide financing options to the GTAA when a financing or a
refinancing need arises to ensure access to capital, on commercially reasonable terms, without exceeding its debt capacity or
resulting in a downgrade to the credit ratings of the existing indebtedness;
b) Maintain financial flexibility in order to preserve its ability to meet financial obligations, including debt servicing payments; and
c) Satisfy covenants set out in the MTI.
The GTAA is a corporation without share capital and, accordingly, is funded through operating revenues, AIF revenue, restricted funds,
the debt capital and CP markets and its bank credit facilities. The GTAA uses a rate-setting methodology that targets levels of cash flow
sufficient not only to fund operating expenses, maintenance and restoration capital expenditures, and partial debt repayment but also,
in most years, to fund certain other capital investments. Consistent with this mandate, any excess funds generated by the GTAA are
reinvested in the Airport.
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Capital Markets Platform
The GTAA’s ongoing capital requirements, as noted above, are financed through the issuances of debt. The GTAA maintains a
financing program referred to as the Capital Markets Platform, capable of accommodating a variety of corporate debt instruments.
All indebtedness incurred under the Capital Markets Platform is secured under the MTI, which establishes common security and a set
of common covenants by the GTAA for the benefit of all its lenders. The security is comprised of: an assignment of the revenues of
the GTAA; a specific charge on certain funds; restricted funds and accounts; an unregistered first leasehold mortgage of the GTAA’s
leasehold interest in the Airport; and a guarantee and related collateral security of subsidiaries, as designated from time to time.
The Debt Service Reserve Funds are funded from the net proceeds of each bond or MTN issuance (see Note 6, Restricted Funds). The MTI
contains a Rate Covenant, consisting of two financial tests (an operating covenant and debt service covenant) such that: (i) Revenues in
each Fiscal Year are sufficient to make all required debt service payments and deposits in funds and reserve funds, and all other payments
required to be made by the GTAA in the ordinary course of its consolidated business; and (ii) Net Revenues, together with any Transfer
from the General Fund in each Fiscal Year, equal at least 125.0 per cent of the Annual Debt Service for each Fiscal Year; (as such capitalized
terms are defined in the MTI). The GTAA sets its rates and charges, fees and rentals so that these two covenants under the MTI are met.
Both covenant tests exclude amortization of property and equipment, investment property and intangible assets from expenses. The debt
service covenant does, however, include a notional amortization, over a 30-year period of outstanding debt. Inclusion of the notional debt
amortization further determines whether net revenues are sufficient to retire debt over 30 years, which is considered appropriate for
an infrastructure provider with significant, long-term use assets. The GTAA’s operating covenant ratio was 137.1 per cent in 2019, which
is above the minimum requirement of 100.0 per cent under the MTI. The GTAA’s debt service covenant ratio was 150.4 per cent in 2019,
which is above the minimum requirement of 125.0 per cent under the MTI.

21. Subsequent Event
Subsequent to year-end, a novel coronavirus (“COVID-19”) was confirmed in multiple countries throughout the world and declared on
March 11, 2020 as a pandemic by the World Health Organization. The outbreak and resulting economic contraction has had, and is
expected to continue to have, a negative impact on demand for air travel globally. Toronto Pearson has experienced significant declines
in passengers and flight activity during February and March of 2020, as compared to the same period in 2019. This is due to flight and
route cancellations, fleet groundings, travel advisories and restrictions and the economic contraction occasioned by the outbreak. The
reduced activity is having a significant negative impact on the GTAA’s business and results of operations, including aeronautical and
commercial revenues and airport improvement fees. Given the rapidly evolving situation, Management continues to analyze the extent
of the financial impact, which could be material, depending on the duration of the outbreak.
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Disclosure Requirements
of the Ground Lease
Subsection 9.01.07, Paragraphs (a) to (g) of the Ground Lease requires the Greater Toronto Airports Authority (“GTAA” or “Corporation”)
to publish in its Annual Report the following:

a) Audited Financial Statements
The auditors’ report and the audited financial statements are found on pages 34 to 64 and the summary of affairs (Management’s
Discussion and Analysis or “MD&A”) is found on pages 12 to 32 of the Annual Report.

b) Report on the Business Plan and Objectives for 2019
The projected cash flows in any year constitute the business plan for that year. The business plan for 2019 is the 2019 summary of
projected cash flows, which is found below in Paragraph (c) (the “2019 Business Plan”). A report on the GTAA’s performance relating to
the 2019 Business Plan is discussed in Paragraph c) below and in the MD&A.
Further, in the Annual Reports for the previous five years, comparisons to the respective business plans and the overall corporate
performance are discussed in the MD&A and Ground Lease disclosure, respectively.

c) Variances and Corrective Measures with Respect to the Report on the 2019 Business Plan
The following table provides a comparison between the 2019 actual results and the 2019 Business Plan.
2019
(in millions, unaudited)
Revenues
Operating expenses
Earnings before interest and amortization, net
Amortization
Interest expense and financing costs, net(1)
Consolidated net income (loss)
Add: Amortization
Add: Interest expense and financing costs, net(1)
Add: Other non-cash items
Add: Changes in working capital
Cash flow from operations
Less: Acquisition and construction of property, expenditures, and intangible assets
Less: Acquisition of investment property
Less: Interest paid and other financing costs, net
Cash source (use) before capital sources
(1)

Actual

Business Plan

Favourable/
(Unfavourable)

$
1,521,256
(795,327)
725,929

$
1,542,500
(793,500)
749,000

$
(21,244)
(1,827)
(23,071)

(290,821)
(295,289)
139,819

(288,600)
(300,800)
159,600

(2,221)
5,511
(19,781)

290,821
295,289
3,771
(561)
729,139

288,600
300,800
–
–
749,000

2,221
(5,511)
3,771
(561)
(19,861)

(421,749)
(6,644)
(300,777)
(31)

(410,000)
–
(300,800)
38,200

(11,749)
(6,644)
23
(38,231)

Includes interest income of $11.9 million.
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For a more complete discussion of the 2019 financial results and capital projects, see the MD&A and the Annual Information Form for
the year ended December 31, 2019, copies of which are available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. The GTAA’s MD&A is also available on
its website at www.torontopearson.com.
For the year ended December 31, 2019, Consolidated Net Income for the GTAA was $19.8 million unfavourable to the 2019 Business
Plan, primarily as a result of lower than expected revenues.
For the year ended 2019, revenues were $21.2 million unfavourable to the 2019 Business Plan, primarily due to weaker than expected
passenger growth driven by a slowdown in economic activities related to trade wars, BREXIT and the grounding of the Boeing
737 MAX planes, in addition to a higher than expected connection ratio for passengers which drove lower Airport Improvement Fees.
These items were partially offset by corporate partnerships designed to enhance the passenger experience; increased advertising,
sponsorship and retail tenant revenues as a result of long-term strategic partnerships; and revenues related to additional investment
properties acquired in the fall of 2018.
For the year ended 2019, operating expenses were $1.8 million unfavourable to the 2019 Business Plan, primarily due to higher than
budgeted spends in snow removal, policing and security. Due to the lower than expected passenger growth and higher than expected
snow fall in the year, management opted to defer or delay certain spend in an effort to mitigate the unfavourability in revenues and
operating expenses. Such areas included consulting, delayed hirings, maintenance, and energy costs.
For the year ended 2019, amortization expenses were $2.2 million unfavourable to the 2019 Business Plan, primarily due to the
accelerated amortization of certain projects that had been completed in the prior year.
For the year ended 2019, interest expenses, net of interest income, was $5.5 million favourable to the 2019 Business Plan, primarily
due to higher than expected capitalized interest and a lower than expected floating rate interest on outstanding commercial paper
borrowings. This was partially offset by higher interest expense related to two unbudgeted bond issuances of $500 million and
$900 million, respectively, and one $300 million bond redemption.
The Corporation has been rapidly increasing investments to support passenger and baggage flow. For the year ended 2019, the GTAA
spent approximately $397 million as compared to the 2019 Business Plan of $410 million. Spend primarily related to ongoing projects
such as the Terminal 1 Pier G expansion, the Terminal 1 Redevelopment and Expansion, the Terminal 1 Concourse F Sectorization and
baggage-handling improvements in Terminal 1 and Terminal 3. A further discussion of key projects can be found in the “Capital Projects
and Acquisitions” section of the MD&A.
Pursuant to the Master Trust Indenture (“MTI”), the deposit to the Notional Principal Fund and the letter of credit adjustment regarding
the Operations and Maintenance Reserve Fund were as projected. No deposits were made to the Debt Service Coverage Reserve Fund
since the financial ratio covenants in Section 7.4 of the MTI were met.
None of the variances to the 2019 Business Plan discussed above were of a nature that caused the Corporation to take specific
corrective actions.

d) Summary of the Five-Year Business Plan
The five-year Business Plan (2020 to 2024) is driven by the 20-year strategic framework, which is in turn based upon three fundamental
strategic principles: financial sustainability, customer experience and operational excellence. This means that the Corporation will meet
the growing demand for air travel, currently forecasted to increase by 8.7 million passengers over the next five years, by making optimum
use of existing facilities before investing in new capital infrastructure. This will be achieved by improving passenger, baggage and aircraft
processing and flow through the Airport, while delivering exemplary customer service, atmosphere and amenities to all passengers.
Over the five-year forecast horizon, the primary driver for the Corporation’s Business Plan is the long-term growth in Airport activity,
which will ultimately dictate the quantum of capital spend and funds dedicated to corporate initiatives which are ancillary to Airport
operations. Specific revenue, customer service or cost containment initiatives carried out over this period may also have an impact on
revenues and expenses. The compounded annual growth rates from 2020 to 2024 for passengers, seats, and Maximum Takeoff Weight
are 3.5 per cent, 3.2 per cent, and 3.2 per cent, respectively.
Aeronautical fees have been held constant or lowered for 12 consecutive years, resulting in a reduction in the average air carriers’ cost
per enplaned passenger.
During the Business Plan’s five-year horizon, the Corporation plans to continue to pursue its non-aeronautical revenue growth
strategy. This will include the introduction of new retail, food and beverage offerings (subject to approved capital projects) and
advertising/sponsorship initiatives, as well as enhanced marketing and business development initiatives to increase parking and
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ground transportation revenues. Additionally, the Corporation will continue its strategic imperative to opportunistically acquire lands
at reasonable prices to support its mega hub aspirations. A corollary of this strategy is incremental rental income from commercial and
industrial properties, which contributes to the growth of commercial revenues. Over the term of the Business Plan, growth rates for
commercial revenues are expected to exceed passenger growth rates.
The Corporation typically undertakes capital projects to meet one of the following key objectives: (i) to comply with regulatory
requirements (e.g., safety, security or environmental); (ii) to expand the capacity or improve the productivity of existing assets; (iii) to
restore or replace existing assets; (iv) to modify existing infrastructure to improve revenue or reduce costs; or (v) to add new capacity or
businesses to the Airport beyond the existing infrastructure.
As part of the 20-year strategic framework adopted by the Corporation in 2015, the Corporation will continue to meet the growing
demand for air travel through making optimum use of existing facilities prior to investing in new capital infrastructure.
In the near term, the Corporation will continue to focus on capital programs that will optimize the capacity and use of its existing
infrastructure assets to improve passenger, baggage and aircraft processing and flow, comply with regulatory requirements and
enhance customer experience, primarily through its Terminal 1 and Terminal 3 improvement projects.
Cash flows generated from operations used to fund capital expenditures are expected to average approximately $740 million per year
over the next five years, subject to continued robust aviation activity growth.
The key aviation revenue generation assumptions used to develop the 2020 Business Plan are as follows:
• 51.5 million total passengers;
• Landed Maximum Takeoff Weight of 18.4 million tonnes; and
• Landed seats of 30.5 million.
The reader is cautioned that some assumptions used to derive forecast information may not materialize and unanticipated events and
circumstances, such as the COVID Pandemic, have occurred or may occur subsequent to the date when this forecast was prepared.
Therefore, the actual results achieved during the period may vary, and the variations may be material. For a more complete discussion of
the risks and uncertainties and caution regarding forward-looking statements, see the MD&A and the Annual Information Form, copies
of which are available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. The GTAA’s MD&A is also available on its website at www.torontopearson.com.

e) Remuneration to Board and Salary of Senior Officers
For 2019, the Chair of the Board of Directors received remuneration in the amount of $150,417, while the other Directors earned
remuneration ranging from $27,615 to $127,000. For 2019, salaries for the Corporation’s senior officers ranged from $291,353 to
$720,059. Senior officers are also eligible for a performance-based bonus.
A Director’s annual remuneration varies by the number of Board and Board Committee meetings attended and the manner of attendance,
whether the Director serves as a Chair of a committee, and whether the Director has served for a full or part year. A senior officer’s salary
varies by the responsibilities and experience of the senior officer and whether the senior officer has served for a full or part year.
Additional information regarding the remuneration paid to the Directors and the senior officers is available in the Annual Information
Form, copies of which are available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.

f) Ethical Business Conduct
The Corporation has a “Code of Business Conduct and Ethics” (the “Code”), which has been approved by the Corporation’s Board of
Directors (the “Board”). The Code complies with the requirements of the Canadian Securities Administrators’ National Policy 58-201 and
represents a comprehensive approach to addressing, among other matters, conflicts of interest and promoting fair, honest and ethical
behaviour by all of the Corporation’s Directors, officers, employees and contractors. A copy of the Code may be accessed on SEDAR at
www.sedar.com.
The Board monitors compliance with the Code, and the Corporation requires that each Director and officer sign an Annual Declaration
advising that the Director or officer has read the Code and either declares that the Director or officer is in compliance or not in
compliance with the Code and declares the reasons for the non-compliance. In addition, the Board has implemented Confidential
Anonymous Reporting for Employees (“C.A.R.E.”), which permits the anonymous reporting of an employee, officer or Director’s
unethical behaviour. C.A.R.E. also extends to business partners contracted by the Corporation.
All Directors and officers indicated that they are in compliance with the Code.
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g) Report on Contracts over $110,000 Not Tendered
The Ground Lease stipulates that any contracts in excess of $110,000 (adjusted periodically by CPI from an original threshold of
$75,000) that are not awarded through a public tendering process must be described in the Corporation’s Annual Report. Such
description must identify: the parties to the contracts; the amount, nature and circumstances of the contract; and the reasons for not
awarding such contract on the basis of a public competitive tendering process. The table below summarizes the applicable contracts
awarded in 2019. Definitions for the “reason for award without public tender” can be found at the end of the table.

Contract Value

Contractor

Description of Contract

Reason for
Award Without
Public Tender

$110,000 to
$500,000

Fluke Corporation

Licences for mobile access to Maximo

A

Intergraph Canada Ltd. DBA Hexagon
Safety & Infrastructure

Software maintenance, subscription and support renewals

B

KPMG LLP

Consulting services

A

Comp Air Canada Inc.

Inspection and certification of fire departments breathing air fill stations

A

Brinks Canada Limited

Daily bank deposits and pickups

A

Teradata Canada

Subscription-based licences, support and maintenance

C

Team Eagle Ltd.

Rental of cyclone ultra-high pressure runway rubber and paint remover

A

Cintas Canada Limited

Uniform cleaning for fleet technicians

A

ET Group

Hardware and software in new baggage control room

A

Lannick Contract Solutions Inc.

Short-term staffing

B

Glidepath Systems Ltd.

Operational software support and maintenance for the baggage system

C

Critical Air Mechanical Inc.

Corrective and preventative maintenance PCA units

B

Bell Canada

WAN service to Airway Centre

A

Marketing Plus Business Solutions

Marketing and promotional items

A

Steer Davies Gleave North America
Incorporated

Regional Transit Center business case framework

A

PV Services Div. of 1043524 Ontario Ltd.

Installation of CBSA cameras

B

Jervis B. Webb Company of Canada Ltd.
World Headquarters

Operational software support and maintenance for the baggage system

C

Webleton Inc.

Professional services

A

Urban Strategies Inc.

Support delivering round table series on transit connections

A

Deloitte LLP

Consulting services

A

2663670 Ontario Ltd.

Consulting services

B

IBM Canada Ltd.

Support and maintenance for Maximo asset management software

B

Ilobby Corp DBA AppGear

Licensing agreement

C

ADB SAFEGATE Canada Inc.

Onsite/remote support and adhoc maintenance

C

Brock Solutions Inc.

Check in counter BIWIS implementation

A

Bruel & Kjaer EMS Inc.

Community portal ANOMS available to the public

C

Fortbrand Services LLC

Repair and replacement parts for Vammas vehicle and plows

C

Get the World Moving Corp.

100 Day Health Challenge

B

Metrolinx

Airport employee discount on Presto fares

B

Northern Micro Inc.

Consulting services

C

$110,000 to
$500,000

$110,000 to
$500,000
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Contract Value

Contractor

Description of Contract

Reason for
Award Without
Public Tender

Precise Parklink Inc.

Upgrading software and hardware of parking facilities

A

AMJ Campbell Van Lines

Storage and warehousing services

B

$500,000 to
$1,000,000

OC Special Commodity Carriers

Emergency off-site transportation and disposal of spent Glycol

A

$1,000,000 to
$2,000,000

BluSky Services Zerkowitz G.C.V.

Professional support services

B

Chauntry Corporation Ltd.

Online reservation and yield management for parking

B

Bridgecon Construction Ltd.

Terminal 3 Baggage Rainbow Road restoration and resurfacing

B

IDEO LP

Consulting services

A

Webleton Inc.

Professional services

A

A. Where the GTAA determines that in connection with an existing contract for the supply of goods and services that is expiring, it is most
efficient and practicable to extend or award a new contract to the existing contractor or services supplier where such contractor or
services supplier has developed a specific skill set or knowledge base in respect of that contract not found on the market.
B. Where there is just one contractor, or services supplier, that can provide the required goods or services.
C. Where warranty, patent or copyright requirements or technical compatibility factors dictate a specific supplier.
D. In any other circumstances where the President and Chief Executive Officer determines it is necessary to do so having regard to the
safe, efficient and practicable operation of Toronto Pearson.
Where a competitive sourcing process was undertaken, and a contract entered into pursuant to which the GTAA receives revenue, then
any associated acquisition of goods and services is not deemed to be a Sole Source contract.

Section 9.01.07, Paragraphs (a) to (g) of the Ground Lease
The Tenant shall, prior to each public meeting to be held pursuant to Subsection 9.01.05, publish an annual report in respect of the
Lease Year (in this Subsection 9.01.07 called “that Lease Year”) immediately preceding the Lease Year in which the public meeting is
held which shall, as a minimum:
a) include the audited annual financial statements of the Tenant for that Lease Year, the Tenant’s Auditor’s report on such Tenant’s
audited annual financial statements, and a summary of the Tenant’s affairs for that Lease Year;
b) contain a report on the Tenant’s performance relating to the Tenant’s business plan and objectives established for that Lease Year,
and as applicable for the previous five Lease Years;
c) include an explanation by the Tenant of all variances and corrective actions taken with respect to the Tenant’s performance
described in Paragraph 9.01.07(b);
d) present a summary of the Tenant’s business plan for the then current Lease Year and the Tenant’s business plan containing a
forecast for the next five Lease Years, including specific objectives (measurable where feasible), for such summary and forecast and
relating to the approved objectives of the Tenant;
e) contain a report on the remuneration provided to each Board member and on the salary of each of the Senior Officers of the Tenant;
f) contain a report on compliance or non-compliance with the Tenant’s Code of Conduct; and
g) report on all contracts in excess of an amount obtained by multiplying seventy-five thousand ($75,000) dollars by the CPI.
Adjustment Factor for that Lease Year which are entered into during that Lease Year and which contracts were not awarded on the
basis of a public competitive tendering process. Such report shall identify the parties to the contract, the amount of the contract,
the nature of the contract, the circumstances of the contract and the reasons for not awarding such contract on the basis of a public
competitive tendering process.
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2019 Corporate Information
Head Office Address

Auditors

Greater Toronto Airports Authority
3111 Convair Drive, P.O. Box 6031
Toronto AMF, Ontario, Canada L5P 1B2
T: 416-776-3000
F: 416-776-3555
TorontoPearson.com

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Toronto, Ontario

Annual Public Meeting

Principal Legal Counsel

The GTAA’s Annual Public Meeting will be held on
Wednesday, May 6, 2020 at 1:30 pm, online via
www.torontopearson.com/apm

Osler, Hoskin & Harcourt LLP
Toronto, Ontario

Lead Bank
Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce
Toronto, Ontario

Public Information
Requests for general information should be directed to:
Customer Service
T: 416-776-9892
Email: Customer_Service@GTAA.com
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We welcome your feedback
If you have any questions or comments regarding this report, or suggestions
for topics you’d like to see covered in future reports, please write to us at:
Greater Toronto Airports Authority
Toronto Pearson International Airport
P.O. Box 6031
3111 Convair Drive
Toronto AMF, Ontario, Canada L5P 1B2
or send an email to Publication@GTAA.com.

Thank you for your interest.
The Greater Toronto Airports Authority (GTAA) was incorporated in 1993
and manages Toronto Pearson International Airport under terms set out in
our December 1996 lease with the Canadian federal government.

Download the full GRI Standards Index at torontopearson.com/ar2019/
downloads/Sustainability_Management_Approach_and_GRI_Index.pdf
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